# THE ROLE OF ELECTROCARDIOGRAPHY AND EXERCISE TESTING IN THE ASSESSMENT OF CARDIOVASCULAR RISK IN ATHLETES AND NON-ATHLETES

**Doctoral Dissertation** 

# Nóra Sydó, MD

Doctoral School of Basic and Translational Medicine Semmelweis University





Supervisors: Béla Merkely MD, DSc; Dávid Becker MD, PhD Consultant: Thomas G. Allison PhD, MPH

Official reviewers: Éva Martos MD, PhD, med. habil Miklós Zsuzsanna MD, PhD

Head of the Final Examination Committee: Zoltán Benyó MD, DSc Members of the Final Examination Committee: József Pucsok, MD, DSc, András Zsáry MD, PhD

Budapest 2018

# **Table of contents**

Tab	le of c	ontent	S	1
Abb	revia	tions		3
1.	Introduction			5
	1.1.	Cardi	ovascular Adaptation to Exercise	7
		1.1.1.	Classificaton of Sports	8
		1.1.2.	Acute Adaptation to Exercise	9
		1.1.3.	Chronic Adaptation to Exercise	11
		1.1.4.	Autonomic Adaptation to Exercise	14
	1.2.	Sudden Cardiac Death in Athletes		15
	1.3.	ECG Screening in Athletes		19
		1.3.1	Resting 12-lead ECG	21
		1.3.2.	Holter ECG	25
		1.3.3.	Exercise testing	30
	1.4.	Semm	nelweis Bridge Project	32
2.	Obje	ctives o	of our Studies	33
<i>3</i> .	Meth	Methods		
	3.1.	Partic	cipants	34
		3.1.1.	Study Population of Athletic ECG Projects	34
		3.1.2.	Study Population of Exercise ECG Projects	34
	3.2.	Measurements		36
		3.2.1.	Athletes	36
		3.2.2.	Non-Athletes	37
	3.3.	Stastistical Analyses		38
<i>4</i> .	Resi	ılts		<i>40</i>
	4.1.	Electrocardiographic Findings		40
		4.1.1.	Study Population	40
		4.1.2.	Training-related Physiological ECG Findings	40
		4.1.3.	Training-unrelated Pathological ECG Findings	42
	4.2.	Holte	r ECG results	45
		4.2.1	Analysis by Study Group	45
		4.2.2.	Analysis by Sport	47

		4.2.3.	Sample individual HRV analyses	49		
		4.2.4.	Comparison of Lower Cut-off Values	50		
	4.3.	Exerci	ise Test Results	51		
		4.3.1.	Study population	51		
		4.3.2.	General exercise test results	54		
		4.3.3.	Peak Heart Rate by Age in Men versus Women in the Preliminary Clinical Cohort	56		
		4.3.4.	Analysis of Factors Affecting Peak Heart Rate	56		
		4.3.5.	Exercise Test Parameters by Age in Men versus Women in the Pure Clinical Cohort	58		
		4.3.6.	Exercise Testing and Mortality Risk	59		
5.	Disc	ussion		<i>63</i>		
	5.1.	The R	ole of ECG in Athletic Screening	64		
		5.1.1.	Physiological ECG Changes	63		
		5.1.2.	Pathological ECG Abnormalities	64		
	5.2.	Auton	omic Adaptation in Athletes	<b>68</b>		
		5.2.1.	Autonomic Adaptation by Sport Intensity	69		
		5.2.2.	Autonomic Adaptation by Sport Modality	69		
		5.2.3.	Clinical Perspectives	70		
		5.2.4.	Limitations	70		
	5.3.	Exerci	ise Heart Rate Responses in Non-athletes	71		
		5.3.1.	Peak Heart Rate Prediction	71		
		5.3.2.	Clinical Importance	72		
		5.3.3.	Limitations	73		
	5.4.	Risk p	rediction on Exercise Test	75		
		5.4.1.	Effect of Cardiorespiratory Fitness on Mortality	75		
		5.4.2.	Clinical Importance	76		
		5.4.3.	Limitations	76		
<i>6</i> .	Cone	clusions	S	78		
Sun	nmary	,		80		
Össz	zefogl	aló – Sı	ummary in Hungarian	81		
Refe	References					
Pub	Publications related to dissertation Publications not related to dissertation					
Pub						
Ack	Acknowledgement					

# Abbreviations

ACC	American College of Cardiology		
AHA	American Heart Association		
ARVC	arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy		
AV	atrioventricularis		
BMI	body mass index		
BP	blood pressure		
BPM	beats per minute		
CI	confidence interval		
CRBBB	complete right bundle branch block		
CRF	cardiorespiratory fitness		
CV	cardiovascular		
CVD	cardiovascular disease		
DCM	dilated cardiomyopathy		
ECG	electrocardiogram (also electrocardiography, electrocardiographic)		
ESC	European Society of Cardiology		
FAC	functional aerobic capacity		
HCM	hypertrophic cardiomyopathy		
HF	high frequency		
HR	heart rate		
HRV	heart rate variability		
IRBBB	incomplete right bundle branch block		
LBBB	left bundle branch block		
LF	low frequency		
LV	left ventricle		
LVH	left ventricular hypertrophy		

LVEDD	left ventricular end-diastolic diameter		
LVEDV	left ventricular end-diastolic volume		
MCV	maximal voluntary contraction		
nsVT	non-sustained ventricular tachycardia		
pNN50	the percentage of differences between successive RR intervals over 24 hours that are greater than 50 milliseconds		
QTc	corrected QT interval		
RMSSD	the root mean square successive difference		
RPE	rating of perceived exertion		
RV	right ventricle		
RVH	right ventricular hypertrophy		
SD	standard deviation		
SDNN	the standard deviation of normal to normal ratios		
SDNN Index	the standard deviation of all the 5-minute NN interval means		
VES	ventricular extrasystole		
VLF	very low frequency		
WPW	Wolf- Parkinson White syndrome		

# 1. Introduction

Electrocardiography (ECG) is an essential tool for diagnosis and management of patients with various cardiovascular (CV) diseases. With the development and increased availability of new imaging techniques, however, ECG has lost some of its diagnostic importance. (1) In athletic screening, the usefulness of ECG is also controversial. In athletes, ECG changes are common, and in most cases these reflect benign structural and electrical remodeling of the heart due to physiological adaptation to exercise, a condition which is often referred to as "athlete's heart". (2-4) However, the differential diagnosis between normal physiological changes and pathological abnormalities can be challenging. (5) For regular athletic screening and follow-up, widely available and inexpensive diagnostic methods are needed. In Hungary, ECG is still a cornerstone of routine athletic screening. (6,7) Its significance is based on simplicity, easy availability, short time to perform and interpret, and high informative value in special cases, as well as on the fact that with appropriate evaluation, appearance of pathological ECG signs can forecast the emergence of structural heart diseases years in advance. (8) However, the cornerstone is just part of any foundation, so additional test modalities are often necessary.

With long-term, 24-hour ECG recordings we may not only catch transient arrhythmias and ischemia, but we can also get useful information about autonomic function and predict CV risk. In case of intact autonomic regulation, simultaneous and opposite changes of sympathetic and parasympathetic activity manifest in beat-to-beat fluctuations of heart rate (HR). The extent of these fluctuations shows short-term and long-term changes due to several individual and environmental effects such as physical activity or mental stress and are reduced permanently when autonomic control mechanisms are impaired. Modern Holter monitoring systems are suitable to identify beat-to-beat perturbations of the normal RR intervals, called heart rate variability (HRV) analysis. (9)

Whereas in CV screening of young athletes we are interested primarily in genetic/congenital abnormalities that manifest themselves in the ECG, in adult patients the evaluation is generally performed to discover acquired conditions that have developed over time as a result of poorly managed risk factors and unhealthy lifestyles. While the

ranges of symptoms in young athletes versus adult patients with CV risk factors overlap somewhat, syncope and palpitations are of greater relevance in young athletes, whereas chest pain and dyspnea on exertion are more common and of relatively greater concern in the adult population.

On an exercise test in an adult patient, interpretation of the ST segments provides useful for its diagnostic information, but more important prognostic value can be gained from variables such as functional aerobic capacity (FAC), peak exercise HR and HR recovery. The prognostic predictive value of these parameters has been studied in a wide range of CV populations and has proved to be an independent powerful predictor of mortality. (10-12) Both FAC and HR responses are affected by autonomic function with FAC and peak exercise HR driven by sympathetic tone, while HR recovery is principally related to parasympathetic tone.

Cigarette smoking has profound effects on health. Besides CVD, lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease are disabling and life-shortening consequences of cigarette smoking. (13,14) Cigarette smoking reduces FAC and impairs the HR response to exercise. These are important early markers of CV risk. (15,16) Smoking cessation, on the other hand, frequently leads to weight gain and weight-associated comorbidites including hypertension and diabetes. (17) The interplay between smoking status and the predictive exercise factors including FAC and HR recovery are of great potential importance in assessing risk and establishing the benefits of smoking cessation.

The purpose of our studies was to emphasize the importance of ECG in athletic screening, to show the additional diagnostic potential of long-term ECG recording in athletes, to conversely present the predictive value of non-ECG factors – FAC and HR responses – on the exercise test in an adult referral population and to define the role of FAC and HR responses in predicting risk according to smoking status.

## 1.1. Cardiovascular Adaptation to Exercise

Physical activity is movement by contraction of specific skeletal muscles of the body, which requires more energy expenditure than resting status. (18,19) This definition includes daily sport activity, physical work, regular training, competitive sports and as well as rehabilitation movement program. All forms of exercise have an effect on the body, specific structural and functional adaptation can be observed according to the type and intensity of sport activity. (2,18) As a result of training, depending on its amount and frequency, acute and chronic sport adaptation can be observed. (2,20) Exercise affects most body systems, including profound effects on the CV system.

As differentiating physiological and pathological sport adaptation is still challenging, we need athletic normal values from studies on large sample size. Because we do not really have such normal values, one possible differential diagnostic method is deconditioning. Cardiac adaptation to exercise may appear after six weeks of intensive training, but as a result of deconditioning these changes disappear. Athletic adaptation is reversible while signs of stuctural heart diseases are irreversible, therefore it may help in the differential diagnosis of borderline cases. (21,22)

## 1.1.1. Classification of Sports

Physical activity can be divided into dynamic and static categories according to metabolic characteristics. The dynamic component can be described by predicting maximal oxygen uptake, while the static by maximal contraction volume. According to the "Morganroth hypothesis", endurance (dynamic, isotonic, aerobic) sports are for example swimming and long-distance running, while weight-lifting ranks among strength sports (static, izometric, anaerobic). (6,23,24) Dynamic sports cause volume overload, while static ones produce pressure overload on the CV system. The specific cardiac chamber morphology changes are shown in **Figure 1**.



**Figure 1.** Summary of sport type specific athletic ventricular remodeling. (25) LV = left ventricular, LVH = left ventricular hypertrophy, RV = right ventricular, RVH = right ventricular hypertrophy, LVEF = left ventricular ejection fraction.

In compliance with the *36. Bethesda Conference* recommendation, we can classify sports by the proportion of dynamic and static components **Figure 2**. (2,18,26-28)



**Figure 2.** Classification of sports based on peak static and dynamic components achieved during competition. The increasing dynamic component is defined in terms of the estimated percentage of maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2</sub>max) achieved and results in an increasing cardiac output. The increasing static component is related to the estimated percentage of maximal voluntary contraction reached and results in an increasing blood pressure load. The lowest total cardiovascular demands (cardiac output and blood pressure) are shown in the palest color, with increasing dynamic load depicted by increasing blue intensity and increasing static load by increasing red intensity. Note the graded transition between categories, which should be individualized on the basis of player position and style of play. \*Danger of bodily collision.  $\dagger$ Increased risk if syncope occurs. (27,28)

Cycling or rowing are good examples of combining static and dynamic activity, but in most sports endurance and isometric elements are both represented in the training program. (18) Moreover, different position players may have quite different CV loads. Nevertheless, there are some weaknesses of this classification, namely that there is no guideline about psychic stress during competition and about different environmental circumstances. (28)

#### 1.1.2. Acute Adaptation to Exercise

To provide enhanced energy of muscle contraction during physical activity, breathing intensity increases with more oxygen uptake in the lungs. As pulmonary blood flow increases with enhanced breathing, other parts of the vascular system show adaptation to exercise. (20,29,30) Acute CV adaptation includes chronotrop mechanisms – increased HR – and inotrop mechanisms – enhanced contractility power. (29,31) HR increase during exercise is regulated by the autonomic nervous system characterized by rapid and sustained parasympathetic withdrawal coupled with sympathetic activation. Peak HR is affected by several factors like age and sex and may actually slightly decrease with aerobic training. Stroke volume increases significantly both at rest and during exercise with prolonged aerobic training. Cardiac output – the product of stroke volume and HR – may increase 5- to 6-fold during a maximal exercise effort. Increased cardiac output and redistribution of circulating blood provides increased perfusion of muscles and heart with stable cerebral blood flow (**Figure 3**). (29,31) Blood flow in the gut and skin decrease during heavy exercise, though skin blood flow will increase during prolonged exercise in hot environments, while blood flow in other organ systems remains relatively constant.



Figure 3. Distribution of cardiac output at rest and during heavy exercise. (32)

#### 1.1.3. Chronic Adaptation to Exercise

As a result of long, repeated bouts of physical exercise, structural and functional adaptation can be observed in the CV system. This includes prominent cardiac remodeling called athlete's heart (**Figure 4**). (2,30,33) The type and magnitude of changes depends on the type and amount of exercise and also on sex and genetic factors.



Figure 4. Morphology of left ventricular hypertrophy in athletes. (33)

Cardiac hypertrophy is the most pronounced feature of athlete's heart, which affects the entire heart but mostly left ventricular (LV) wall thickening can be observed. Besides muscle mass increase, capillary density increases too. (2,29,33,34) While wall thickening as a consequence of static exercise is due to pressure overload, dynamic exercise results in volume overload, which manifests itself in increased diameters. Henschen's definition of athlete's heart: "an enlargement of the heart which can perform more work than a normal heart." (2,35) It is very important to distinguish the physiological left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) of athlete's heart from the pathological LVH of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM); this can be accomplished with appropriate diagnostic methods. (34,36) The difference between physiological athlete's heart and pathological LVH is the structure and amount of pathological cells and tissue, whose consequences worsen first the diastolic and then the systolic function in pathological LVH. (30)

In recent years, cardiac remodeling has been studied with several imaging techniques. Echocardography studies showed that ventricular diameters are related to sports type and intensity. (4,37) The most pronounced increases can be observed in rowing, cross country skiing, cycling and swimming. However, adaptative changes may be different, as almost all athletes have some evidence of athlete's heart including LV dilatation and increased wall thickness. (21) Marked (> 60 mm) LV end-diastolic diameter dilatation may be present in only 15% of athletes, while > 13 mm wall thickness is only present in 2% of the athletes (**Figure 5/A and 5/B**). These two parameters are generally lower in women compared to men. (2,34)



**Figure 5/A.** Left ventricular end-diastolic dimensions in male and female athletes by echocardiography. (2)



**Figure 5/B.** Left ventricular wall thickness in male and female athletes by echocardiography. (2)

Increased LV diameter can be observed after one week of endurance training, while the increase of myocardial mass is slower, correlating with training years and maximal oxygen uptake. Enhanced blood volume increases volume overload of the heart and

contributes to the rapid increase of heart dimensions. Athletes have higher LV enddiastolic volume with increased cardiac stroke volume, so they can provide the resting cardiac output with lower HRs. (2,3,30)

It is important to mention here that these structural adaptations to chronic exercise also affect the resting ECG, making it potentially more challenging to distinguish healthy athletes from those with cardiac diseases.

#### 1.1.4. Autonomic Adaptation to Exercise

Cardiovascular autonomic function also shows acute and chronic adaptation to physical exercise through the regulation of HR, blood pressure (BP) and circulatory redistribution mediated by sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems.

At the beginning exercise, HR increases rapidly, mainly due to the withdrawal of vagal activity. As the workload increases, HR increases due to further vagal withdrawal and concomitant sympathetic activation. (38-41)

The complexity of exercise induced long-term CV adaptation is well reflected by lower HR at rest and during submaximal exercise with unchanged or even slightly lower peak HR remains. (2,3,18) As a consequence of structural adaptation, in athletes a given increase in cardiac output requires less increase in HR due to the maintenance of a larger stroke volume. On the other hand, HR may be reduced during submaximal exercise due to a lower intrinsic HR, as a result of sympathetic activity decrease with less circulating catecholamines and a greater parasympathetic influence. (42) At the same time, regular physical activity also reduces the sympathetic effect on the sinoatrial node. (39,40) Besides lower HRs, chronic autonomic adaptation may also manifest in conduction abnormalities such as transient second degree AV block and increased ventricular ectopy that might mimic underlying cardiac disease.

Underdeveloped cardiac autonomic adaptation may be a warning sign of underlying cardiac abnormality as sympathovagal imbalance and impaired baroreceptor function may preceed ventricular arrhythmias and myocardial ischemia and have been associated with an increased risk of mortality. (43-45)

## **1.2.** Sudden Cardiac Death in Athletes

In recent years, sudden cardiac death (SCD) has become a center of focus in the media, as several prominent US collegiate and professional athletes literally "died on the screen". Although, the number of athletic SCDs is relatively small, these deaths represent an important and emotionally charged public health issue.

The incidence of SCD is greater in athletes compared to non-athletes who perform recreational sports. (46-50) Competitive sports activity enhances the risk of SCD by 2.5fold in adolescents and young adults. (47,51-53) The difference in incidence may be explained by the fact that the intensity and duration of physical activity is likely much higher in competitive versus recreational sports, but use of performance-enhancing substances may also play a role in some of the deaths. We also cannot rule out an ascertainment bias in that competitive sports are more closely scrutinized and deaths witnessed and well-documented, whereas deaths in recreational activity may more likely be undocumented and unreported. According to a prospective population-based study from Italy, the incidence of sudden death is 2.3 (2.62 in males and 1.07 in females) per 100 000 athletes per year from all causes, and 2.1 per 100,000 athletes per year from CVDs. (51) In the United States the prevalence of SCD is in the range of 1:100,000 to 1:300,000 high school-age athletes, while among older athletes the frequency of SCD due principally to coronary artery disease (CAD) may exceed that of younger athletes (1:15,000 joggers and 1:50,000 marathon runners). (52,54-56) The difference in incidences between Italy and the United States includes that studies from the United States probably underestimated the prevalence of sports-related SCD because they relied on reports from individual schools and institutions, or on media accounts. Another reason could be the different underlying pathological substrates which might reflect differences also in ethnic and genetic factors (specifically arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy - ARVC) along with higher mean age and higher level of participation of Italian competitive athletes compared with U.S. high school and college participants. (52, 57, 58)

SCD in athletes shows a clear gender difference with male predominance up to 10:1. (50,52,59,60) This may be explained by the higher participation rate of male compared to female athletes in competitive sports, by the higher intensity with more intense pressure

of training load and level of athletic achievement of males, longer competitive seasons, as well as the lower prevalence of cardiac abnormalities capable of causing SCD in females. (61) Greater use of performance-enhancing drugs and supplements among male athletes may also play a role. More recently, male gender was reported to be, in itself, a risk factor for sports-related SCD. (48,49,52,57,58)

In Hungary, there are no published statistical data about the incidence of SCD during sports, but the estimated frequency of sports-related death is not likely higher than the Italian experience. (18,62)

SCD occurs more frequently in certain sports. In the United States, basketball – primarily men's basketball (63) – has the greatest incidence, whereas in Europe soccer predominates. (52)

SCD is usually the result of an interaction between an acute trigger and underlying heart disease (substrate). (64,65) Emotional stress, environmental factors, myocardial ischemia, sympathetic-vagal imbalance, and hemodynamic changes may be acute triggers for life-threatening ventricular tachyarrhythmias and SCD during sports. (66) In young athletes (<35 years of age), the most common cause of SCD is underlying congenital cardiac disease, such as cardiomyopathies and congenital coronary anomalies (**Figure 6**). (67)



**Figure 6.** Causes of sudden cardiac death in young athletes. (2,67) HCM = hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, LVH = left ventricular hypertrophy, ARVC = arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, AS = aortic stenosis, CAD = coronary artery disease, DCM = dilated cardiomyopathy, LQTS = long QT syndrome.

In the presence of heart disease, intensive and systematic athletic training itself may promote progression or worsening of the arrhythmogenic substrate (either structurally or electrically) therefore increasing the risk of SCD. (66) For example, in patients with HCM, recurrent episodes of exercise-induced myocardial ischemia during intensive training may result cell death and myocardial replacement fibrosis, which in turn enhances ventricular electrical instability. (68) In patients with ARVC, regular and intense physical activity may provoke RV volume overload and cavity enlargement, which in turn may accelerate fibrofatty atrophy. (69)

Geographical differences have been reported in the causes of SCD between Europe and the US in young athletes. In the US the most common cause is HCM, while in Europe ARVC. These differences are more likely to be related to the differences in preparticipation screening methods in the identification of athletes at a higher risk, rather than reflecting a truly different etiology. In the US, African-American males have higher rates of SCD during sports than white males.

Other common causes are genetic diseases as ion channelopathies (long QT syndrome, Brugada syndrome, short QT syndrome and cathecholaminerg polymorphic ventricular tachycardia). These deaths occur most commonly in team sports such as basketball and football, which have the highest levels of participation. (52) Blunt chest trauma also may cause ventricular fibrillation in a structurally normal heart; this is known as commotio cordis. (70,71)

In older athletes (35 years and older), atherosclerotic CAD is the most common cause (85%) of SCD.(56) They are individual athletes – such as long distance runners – rather than members of organized team sports. (52) Besides known risk factors of ischemic heart disease, in athletes myocardial ischemia may be induced by increased wall stress from increased HR and BP, exercise induced coronary artery spasm, decreased coronary perfusion as a result of shortened diastolic filling time and increased myocardial oxygen demand. These mechanisms may induce acute coronary artery plaque disruption, including plaque rupture or erosion, with acute thrombotic occlusion. (72) An increase in thrombogenicity also could contribute to coronary thrombosis after plaque rupture or erosion. (73) Myocardial ischemia causes electrically inhomogeneous areas, scars which can be disposed to develop malignant ventricular arrhythmias and fibrillation. All of the

above-mentioned abnormalities may induce malignant ventricular arrhythmias, mainly (65-80%) ventricular fibrillation, which is the definite cause of SCD.

Diagnosing underlying cardiac diseases could potentially prevent some cases of SCD during sports. Athletes could be treated for example with surgery for anomalous coronary arteries in younger athletes or percutaneous coronary intervention or bypass surgery in older athletes. Other athletes with less treatable conditions like HCM could be disqualified or rechanneled into less strenuous sports. Recently published guidelines from ACC/AHA also allow continued participation for some athletes with arrhythmogenic substrate after the institution of appropriate therapies including implantable cardiac defibrillators.(74,75) Therefore, all athletes should undergo some sort of pre-participation CV screening. However, the elements of the screening have not been standardized across countries. Moreover, evaluation of athletes raises diagnostic difficulties, particularly differentiating between physiological adaptation to exercise and pathological conditions, so some normal athletes may inadvertently be disqualified while some abnormalities might be classified as "normal variant". Economics of screening is a major issue, considering the high cost of some cardiac tests versus the very low rates of SCD (1-2 per 100,000 athletes per year) during sport. In US, screening is conducted according to an algorithm whereby history and physical exam determine who gets an ECG or further cardiac tests, whereas general screening with  $ECG \pm echocardiography may be employed$ in Europe or in some American professional sports (Women's NBA, for example).(76) Other questions to be addressed include frequency of screening and at what age screening begins. Is one evaluation to look for cardiac abnormalities when the athlete first begins high level training and competition sufficient, or does evaluation need to be repeated annually? There may also be medical-legal issues in the case of athletes who experience SCD after being screened or with athletes who are disqualified from sports but independently produce contrary evidence that they do not have cardiac abnormalities.

## 1.3. ECG Screening in Athletes

The role of pre-participation screening is to identify or raise the suspicion of those underlying CVDs, abnormalities and CV risk factors which are responsible for athletic field deaths so as to disqualify - or in some cases provide ameliorative treatment to athletes at risk. We expect that applying this strategy may prevent some cases of SCD. (77-80) In Hungary, similarly to other developed European countries, pre-participation screening is mandatory once a year for athletes over 18 years of age and every six months under 18 years of age. (7,81) The basic examinations include family and personal history, physical examination with BP measurement, and resting 12-lead ECG. Personal history is performed on a detailed questionnaire which contains several questions about the health status of the athlete, such as symptoms during exercise, CV risk factors, and medications. In addition to personal history, there is a separate section for family history designed to identify possible inherited CVDs and assess the presence of SCD in the family. (7,81) In Hungary, resting 12-lead ECG is an essential part of pre-participation screening. Nevertheless, imaging diagnostic techniques such as echocardiography or cardiac MR, are also performed in case of symptoms or positive findings on basic exams as shown on Figure 7. Athletes diagnosed with clinically relevant CV abnormalities are managed according to available guidelines for assessing athletic risk.



**Figure 7.** Flow diagram illustrating pre-participation screening protocol for young competitive athletes. (80)

EMB = endomyocardial biopsy, EPS = electrophysiological study, MRI = magnetic resonance imaging.

#### 1.3.1. Resting 12-lead ECG

ECG changes in athletes are common and in most cases reflect benign structural and electrical remodeling of the heart due to physiological adaptation to physical training, as a part of "athlete's heart". (2,3,5,82) The majority of disorders associated with an increased risk of SCD can be suggested or identified by resting ECG abnormalities. Moreover, ECG changes may preceed years in advance of the abnormalities caused by structural heart disease.(8) Resting ECG is an essential part of pre-participation screening in Hungary, but the US and Europe have treated the need for universal ECG differently. In Europe, long-term Italian (specifically, Veneto region) experience has demonstrated that pre-participation screening with medical history and physical examination has limited sensitivity to detect athletes at high risk, but the implementation of ECG to the screening protocol increases its sensitivity and is an effective way of identifying athletes with potentially lethal CVDs and ultimately saves lives. (83-87) This screening algorithm, which has been used for pre-participation screening in Italy for over a 25-year period, has proved adequate sensitivity and specificity for detecting athletes affected by potentially dangerous cardiomyopathy or arrhythmia, and has led to a decreased mortality of young competitive athletes by  $\sim$ 90%, mostly by preventing SCD from ARVC which is common in this region but has a low prevalence elsewhere. Figure 8. (80,88-90)



**Figure 8.** Annual incidence rates of sudden cardiac death in screened competitive athletes and unscreened nonathletes aged 12 to 35 years in the Veneto Region of Italy (1979-2004). (89)

However, in the US concerns have been raised and the usefulness of ECG was questionable because of cost-effectiveness and low specificity with high level of false positive results. (78,91-93) Americans may be more sensitive to the issue of inappropriate disqualifications and generation of expense downstream evaluations and the anxiety they produce in otherwise healthy athletes with isolated ECG abnormalities. In recent years some American groups have accepted the use of universal ECG screening and have stated that ECG added to focused CV history and physical examination may be cost-effective and improve the overall sensitivity of pre-participation screening. (94,95)

Digital ECG recording has been spreaded recently, therefore serial comparison of previous ECG recordings may help to identify and highlight changes in order to make clinical decisions and it may decrease the high false positive results.

The original recommendations for ECG interpretation in athletes were published in 2010 by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). (96) Athletic ECG changes are common and usually reflect structural and electrical remodeling of the heart. (97) However, ECG abnormalities may be an expression of an underlying heart disease. (98) It is important to correctly distinguish between physiological ECG changes and potentially pathological ECG abnormalities. Over the last decade, ECG interpretation standards have evolved quickly. (99) In 2013, an international group of sports cardiology experts updated contemporary standards for ECG interpretation in athletes, called "Seattle Criteria". (100) The "Seattle Criteria" significantly improved the specificity of ECG screening for detecting CVD associated with SCD, by accounting for specific benign repolarization anomalies associated with black ethnicity and designating less conservative limits for an abnormal QT interval. (101,102) In 2014, the "Refined Criteria" have been associated with further reduction in false positives - isolated atrial enlargement, axis deviation and right ventricular hypertrophy (RVH) - without compromising sensitivity. (101) While comparing the three guidelines, the application of "Refined Criteria" results in a significant increase in specificity when compared to the "ESC" and the "Seattle Criteria", while retaining the same sensitivity. This reduces the amount of abnormal ECGs from 12.7% - 22.3% with the ESC criteria to 1.9% - 6.6% with the "Refined Criteria". Moreover, new ECG interpretation guidelines are associated with a cost reduction of up to 21% without compromising sensitivity to detect serious cardiac disease. (103)

In 2017, an international consensus statement was published about ECG interpretation in athletes, which provides expert opinion-based recommendations of specific ECG abnormalities and secondary evaluation for conditions associated with SCD. (104)

**Figure 9** lists the international standards for ECG interpretation. (104) The consensus document distinguishes normal, abnormal and borderline ECG findings. Athletes having two or more borderline ECG findings require further evaluation.



**Figure 9.** International consensus standards for electrocardiographic (ECG) interpretation in athletes. (104)

AV = atrioventricular, LBBB = left bundle branch block, LVH = left ventricular hypertrophy, RBBB = right bundle branch block, RVH = right ventricular hypertrophy; PVC = premature ventricular contraction, SCD = sudden cardiac death.

On a characteristic athletic ECG (**Figure 10**) resting sinus bradycardia, first degree AV block and early repolarization are common ECG signs resulted by autonomic adaptation of the heart (increased vagal tone and decreased sympathetic activity). Besides these evidences of electrical sport adaptation, structural adaptation can also be observed as signs of LVH. These physiological changes have to be differentiated from pathological abnormalities such as pathological T-wave inversion, q waves, conduction abnormalities and arrhythmias, which may be a sign of structural heart disease. (105-108)



**Figure 10.** Resting ECG recording of a Hungarian Olympic champion. Sinus bradycardia, heart rate: 51/min, marked sinus arrhythmia, central axis, left ventricular hypertrophy (Cornell criteria), V2-V3: 1 mm J-point elevation.

#### 1.3.2. Holter ECG

Besides evaluation of morphologic ECG changes on the resting ECG, periodic alterations of ECG rate, rhythm, and morphology could provide information about underlying conduction diseases and transient ischemic changes of the heart. For this we need long-term ECG recording and detailed analyses of indirect signs such as HRV. Another advantage of Holter ECG is that we can monitor ECG features during different parts and activities of day and night. Most widespread functions of Holter ECG are evaluation of HR profile during resting and training, detecting brady-and tachyarrhythmias and recognizing transient ST-T changes. Arrhythmias can be described thoroughly with onset, lengths, frequency, relation to exercise and symptoms. Besides these basic, widely known functions, modern Holter systems have special functions such as QT analysis, T-wave alternant analysis and evaluation of autonomic function with HRV.

We have some earlier unpublished data about Holter ECG changes in athletes. On a Holter screening of healthy, asymptomatic athletes, we revealed ECG changes in more than 60% of the cases, which could not be detected by a standard resting ECG. Certainly, Holter changes we detected were mostly non pathological. Intermittent first degree AV-block, transient junctional rhythm and Wenckebach phenomenon with non-significant pausa are common signs of a consequence of increased vagal tone. However, Holter screening revealed pathological, sport-unrelated changes too, such as atrial and ventricular arrhythmias, transient high degree AV block and intermittent repolarization changes. Athletes with these abnormalities underwent a detailed cardiac examination, but no structural heart disease was verified. We recommended regular follow-up with Holter ECG control. In two asymptomatic athletes, Holter ECG identified accessory pathway conduction. Electrophysiology exam and catheter ablation was performed.

#### Heart Rate Variability (HRV) Analysis

With the availability of new, digital modern 24-hour, multichannel ECG recorders, HRV has the potential to provide additional valuable insight into physiological and pathological conditions and to enhance risk stratification. (9) SCD may be triggered by changes of autonomic regulation. In case of intact autonomic nervous function, simultaneous and opposite changes of sympathetic and parasympathetic activity manifest in oscillation in the interval between consecutive heartbeats. The extent of these fluctuations shows short-term and long-term changes due to several individual and environmental effects such as physical activity or mental stress and is reduced permanently when autonomic control mechanisms are impaired. Modern Holter monitoring systems are suitable for detecting beat-to-beat fluctuations of RR intervals (**Figure 11**), called HRV analysis. (9)



Figure 11. Beat-to-beat perturbations of RR intervals. (9)

The physiological background of HRV can be defined as the autonomic nervous system with sympathetic and parasympathetic regulation maintaining CV homeostasis by responding to beat-to-beat perturbations sensed by baroreceptors and chemoreceptors. (109) Arterial and venous BP are altered continuously as a result of the cyclic variation in intrathoracic pressure associated with respiratory movements, and also because of the fluctuations in peripheral vascular resistance resulting from regional blood flow autoregulation. (110)

The variations in HR may be evaluated with several methods. The RR variations can be evaluated by time domain and frequency domain methods. In a continuous ECG recording, each QRS complex is detected, normal-to-normal (NN) intervals (that is, all intervals between adjacent QRS complexes resulting from sinus node depolarizations) are determined. Simple time domain variables that can be calculated for example, the mean NN interval, the mean HR, the difference between the longest and shortest NN interval. Short time HRV parameters (RMSSD and pNN50) reflect parasympathetic activity, while SDNN and SDNN Index show all frequency changes of the examined time **Table 1.** (9,110)

Time- domain	Definition
parameter	
SDNN (ms)	the standard deviation of normal to normal ratios
SDNN Index (ms)	the standard deviation of all the 5-minute NN interval means
RMSSD (ms)	the root mean square successive difference
nNN50 (%)	the percentage of differences between successive RR
μπτο (70)	intervals over 24 hours that are greater than 50 ms

**Table 1.** Time domain parameters of heart rate variability and their definitions. (9)

While analyzing the HRV frequency domain, the spectral analysis of HR signals displays their power spectrum density and marks in a plot the relative contribution (amplitude) of each frequency, each plot including a minimum of three peaks. The fast periodicities in the range 0.15-0.4 Hz (HF) are the result of the influence of the respiratory phase on the vagal tone. The low frequency periodicities (LF) situated in the range of 0.04-0.15 Hz, are produced by baroreflex feedback loops, affected by both sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation of the heart, and very low frequency periodicities. Accordingly, in the frequency range less than 0.04 Hz, the periodicities have been variously ascribed to modulation by chemoreception, thermoregulation and the influence of vasomotor activity. The total spectrum (TP 0.01-1.0 Hz) reflects the total variability, which includes VLF besides LF and HF. The area that can be found under the power spectral curve in a particular frequency band is considered to be a measure of HRV at that frequency. According to the Task Force report, the ECG signals analyzed have to meet several technical requirements in order to obtain reliable information. For grounded results, the ectopic beats, arrhythmic events, missing data and noise effects should be properly filtered and omitted. While carrying out short-term investigations, frequency domain methods must be preferred, additionally frequency and time domain methods are well correlated to each other. SDNN correspond to TP, SDNN Index is correlated well with VLF and LF while pNN50 and RMSSD is proportional to HF. (111)

Intensive research of HRV - as a marker of cardiac autonomic function - has been carried out in the past few decades. (40,41,53) HRV has been utilized to characterize adverse CV adaptation in certain disease entities such as ischemic heart disease and heart failure. (112,113) The alteration of autonomic influences cannot just present a marker for psychophysiological state but can also be a trigger mechanism of life-threatening arrhythmias in specific situations. (114,115) The clinical importance of HRV became accepted in the late 1980s, after it was confirmed that HRV is a strong and independent predictor of mortality after an acute myocardial infarction. (116-118) Presumably in connection with its arrhythmogenic effects, decreased HRV has been shown to be a strong and independent predictor of mortality in other CVDs as well. (119)

Several trials examined the influences of physical activity on HRV. The enhancing effect of training on HRV was observed in healthy participants as well as in CAD, heart failure, obesity, type-2 diabetes mellitus and following myocardial infarction. (120,121) In healthy participants, baseline autonomic status has been shown to be an important determinant of cardiac autonomic response to exercise. (122)

HRV analysis has also been used for the testing and follow-up of athletes. It is well known that long-term training increases HRV. (123) Training for sports competition promotes a long-term increase in parasympathetic tone with concomitant inhibition of sympathetic tone in the resting state. (124) Athletes generally manifest resting bradycardia - often with first or transient second degree AV blocks and nodal rhythms. (125) With exercise, however, HR increases appropriately, and the conduction abnormalities disappear. As a characteristic of athletic training, HRV analysis may be useful for following CV fitness development and determining optimal training intensity. (126-128) Short-term HR monitoring and calculation of frequency-domain parameters of HRV has been suggested to be a useful method for training load quantification (129), the testing of psychophysiological adaptation to different phases of training (130) and recovery monitoring of injured athletes. (131) On the other hand, the decrease of HRV is used as a marker of overtraining and exhaustion. (114,119) Following high eccentric strength training, the decrease of specific high frequency domain HRV parameters beside the increase of low frequency HRV values was supposed to indicate autonomic imbalance towards sympathetic modulation predominance in healthy older men. (132) Moreover, those athletes who were trained taking into account the changes of their HRV parameters showed better athletic achievements compared to the ones with fixed training plans that did not include adjustment for HRV. (115)

However, the methodology of measuring and calculating HRV has not been standardized due to differing recording time and the variability of measured parameters. Short-term HRV measurements of 1 to 10 minutes can be affected by several transitional effects even in maximally controlled testing conditions. For this, long-term HRV analysis during allday activity of up to 24 hours using Holter monitoring could be a more stable and reproduceable measure of the actual autonomic state of athletes, besides several other advantages of Holter ECG screening. Moreover, while short-term HRV measurements are often limited to frequency-domain analysis, long-term HRV measurements offer the opportunity of accurate evaluation of time-domain HRV parameters as well. However, there are at present very limited data on long-term HRV measures and time-domain HRV parameters of athletes, although time domain measures are considered to be more consistent than frequency domain parameters to describe chronic autonomic adaptations in athletes. (133)

#### 1.3.3. Exercise Testing

Exercise testing is one of the most common non-invasive techniques to diagnose CAD, determine its prognosis and follow patients longitudinally. Applying exercise testing, we can assess FAC, exercise related symptoms and hemodynamic changes (HR and BP). In athletes, we can detect ECG abnormalities not present at rest, including exercise induced arrhythmias, conduction disorders and myocardial ischemia. We can also identify masked hypertension. Nevertheless, exercise testing is not the part of routine pre-participation screening of athletes. It requires special facilities, adds expense to the screening, and brings up interpretative conundrums similar to the resting ECG and various cardiac imaging tests. In non-athletes, particularly older individuals with CAD risk factors and, especially, symptoms that suggest CAD, exercise testing is widely employed.

Exercise HR responses have been studied for many years, without full agreement about differences in HR by age in men versus women. Peak exercise HR has been estimated as 220 minus age for both men and women since an initial report in the 1970s by Fox et al,(134-138) though more recent studies question the accuracy of this formula, particularly in women. (139) The number of women undergoing exercise testing has increased in recent years, so laboratories have more experience testing women. Also, sports activities for women have increased, so women are more accustomed to high levels of exertion. Although these important facts are known, women have been underrepresented in most CV studies, including those involving exercise testing.

HR responses to exercise have been studied in different patient populations and have proved to identify higher risk patients. (11,12,116,128,135,140-142) Smoking is one of the major risk factors for CV disease (CVD) and all-cause mortality. As the leading preventable cause of death, smoking accounts for more than 480,000 deaths every year in the United States.(143) Therefore, smoking cessation is one of the most important steps in CVD prevention. However, quitting smoking may cause weight gain and increase the risk of weight-associated comorbidities such as diabetes and hypertension, thus potentially attenuating the benefits of quitting. (144-146) Moreover, obesity itself is also a strong risk factor for incident CVD. Exercise is another most important tool of both primary and secondary prevention. It can help in weight loss and has several well-known protective effects. Lee et al. proposed that exercise may have a protective effect in men

regarding cancer mortality by smoking status, after his study there was only one large study which investigated the associations between exercise and smoking habits. (147) The researchers found that exercise reduces mortality by around 30% in smokers and past smokers. (148)

## 1.4. Semmelweis Bridge Project

Semmelweis Bridge Project (TÁMOP 4.2.2-08/1/KMR) was established to perform translational research in the area of CVDs through international scientific cooperations. It provides possibilities to athletic screening with the highest technological equipment to assess CV risk. At Semmelweis University Heart and Vascular Center we aimed to perform detailed basic and clinical research of athletic adaptation with differentiating physiological changes and pathological abnormalities. In the frame of this extended CV screening, all athletes underwent personal and family history screening, physical examination, ECG, laboratory testing, 24-hour Holter monitoring, echocardiography and cardiac MR.

In order to investigate CV risk in athletes, non-athletes and patients, we initiated a cooperation with the Mayo Clinic Cardiovascular Health Clinic, which has the largest exercise test laboratory in the world. The Mayo Integrated Stress Center Database (MISC) contains exercise testing data about almost 140.000 patients with more than 200.000 exercise tests covering approximately 32 years, which has thus provided a solid resource basis of the different composite populations for our own research.

# 2. Objectives of our Studies

- 1. Our first aim was to study electrocardiographic adaptation to sports-specific training.
  - We conducted a detailed prospective observational study of athletes in which we performed ECG analysis
  - We documented the prevalence of physiological, common ECG changes, potentially pathological, training-unrelated ECG changes and pathological abnormalities in a composite sample of healthy, asymptomatic Hungarian athletes. (149)
- 2. Our hypothesis was that training adaptation of the ECG depends upon autonomic nervous system adaptation, which can be determined by analysis of HRV.
  - Consequently, we measured HRV in our prospective cohort of young asymptomatic elite and masters athletes and young non-athletic controls during long-term Holter ECG monitoring.
  - Our second aim was therefore to investigate training-related, sport-specific differences in HRV.
  - Moreover, we targeted to determine normal distribution curves and lower cut-off values for the studied HRV parameters to provide the lower limit of normal athletic values in the elite athletes. (150)
- 3. Subsequently, we also analyzed a large cohort of adult, non-athletic patients without CVD, who underwent clinical exercise testing.
  - Our aim was to determine factors including age, sex, cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) and comorbidities that affect exercise HR.
  - After the exclusion of HR modifying factors we aimed to determine exercise HR responses in men and women according to age (151)
- Finally, using our large exercise testing database with a fully ascertained total, CV, and cancer mortality during long-term follow-up
  - We proposed to study the effect of smoking on weight-associated comorbidities and mortality in patients without baseline CVDs.
  - We equally sought to determine whether better CRF on a stress test reduces mortality risk in past and current smokers.

# 3. Methods

## 3.1. Participants

### 3.1.1. Study Population of Athletic ECG Projects

Healthy asymptomatic elite, non-elite and master athletes and controls were studied. Our athlete group was stratified according to training intensity and frequency. Athletes were categorized into two groups according to their level of activity assessed in a detailed questionnaire (registering the year they started the competitive sport activity, the number of training sessions per day and per week, lengths and types of training, phase of training and best results). The studied elite athletes were members of national teams, and they trained more than 10 hours per week. Masters were defined as athletes over 30 years of age who had been former national team members, were still participating in master championships and their amount of training was between 6 and 9 hours per week. Healthy volunteers not participating in competitive sports composed the control group recruited from employees of Semmelweis University, mainly medical students and residents. Their physical activity was less than 3–4 hours per week according to the questionnaire mentioned above. The upper limit of training time during Holter monitoring was maximum 2 hours. Individuals were excluded if they had any history of heart disease, diabetes, or still existing systemic disease.

#### 3.1.2. Study Population of Exercise ECG Projects

Patients who underwent exercise treadmill testing between September 21, 1993, and December 20, 2010, were identified retrospectively using the Mayo Integrated Stress Center (MISC) database in Rochester, Minnesota, USA. This computerized database contains prospectively collected demographic and clinical information about patients.

For our exercise HR project we included patients aged 40 to 89 years who had performed non-imaging treadmill tests according to the Bruce protocol. Exclusion criteria to define our preliminary cohort were: (1) documented history of known CVD, including ischemic heart diseases, heart failure, cardiac surgery, structural or valvular heart diseases, major arrhythmias, defibrillator or pacemaker, congenital heart diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, and peripheral vascular diseases; (2) use of any HR attenuating or rhythmmodifying agents, including beta blockers, calcium channel blockers, sotalol, and amiodarone, at the time of the exercise test; (3) patients younger than 40 years because reasons for exercise testing in younger patients were different and the number of younger patients was relatively small; (4) the test was not symptom limited but stopped because of ST changes, major arrhythmias, or abnormal BP response; and (5) for patients who underwent multiple exercise tests during the study period, only the initial exercise test was included.

For our smoking project the study population was basically the same, but we included patients older than 30 years and we did not exclude patients using HR attenuating or rhythm-modifying drugs.

Demographic and relevant clinical characteristics extracted from the database included hypertension (defined by previous diagnosis or receiving antihypertension medication), diabetes mellitus (defined by previous diagnosis), obesity (defined as body mass index of  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ), and current smoking. Smoking status was defined according to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) definitions. (152) Never smokers have not smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and do not smoke now. A smoker was considered past smoker if smoked at least 100 cigarettes but does not smoke any now. Current smokers have smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and currently smoke. We also identified patients who were grossly unfit or unable to exercise adequately as having a FAC of < 80%. Patients were divided into 3 groups by smoking status, and then these groups were sub-divided into 3 groups according to CRF based on FAC on the exercise test: poor CRF < 80%, reduced CRF 80 – 99%, normal CRF  $\geq 100\%$ .

Ethical approval for the Hungarian research projects was obtained from the Central Ethics Committee of Hungary (13697- 1/2011-EKU[443/PI/11.]) and all participants gave informed consent. Exercise ECG investigations were a retrospective database studies approved by the Institutional Review Board of Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota. Subjects who did not consent to have their data used in research under Minnesota Statue (§144.335) were excluded. (153)
### 3.2. Measurements

### 3.2.1. Athletes

### **Resting 12- lead ECG**

Standard resting 12-lead ECGs were recorded (BTL – 08MT). Detailed ECG analysis was performed using the 2010 recommendations for ECG interpretation of athletes by the European Society of Cardiology. (96)

### **Holter ECG**

Three-channel Holter ECG screening was applied (ScottCare Cardioview DxSuite, USA) using modified V5, V1 and III leads. (Figure 12)



Figure 12. Electrode position of three-channel Holter ECG recording.

Automatic HRV analysis was carried out using software HolterCare ver. 10.2.2, 32 bit Windows 7 Enterprise, Service Pack 1 in the system DELL Optiplex 755 [Intel(R) Core(TM) 2 Duo CPU E 8400 @ 3.00 GHz 2.99 GHz, 2.00 GB]. After the automatic analysis, all recordings were examined by a physician to verify premature beats and artifacts. During the test the participants were asked to do their daily routine as usual, including training, food intake and sleeping.

#### **Holter ECG Variables**

Short- and long-term time-domain parameters were studied excluding premature and artifacts beat as follows: (1) The standard deviation of all normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN), which is a global index of HRV reflecting all circadian changes during the whole recording period. It characterizes the overall variability of HR, which means it can be influenced both by parasympathetic and sympathetic stimulation. (2) The mean of the 5-min standard deviation of the normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN Index), which measures the variability of 5-min cycles. It integrates the fast and intermediate components of HRV. (3) The square root of the mean squared differences between adjacent NN intervals (RMSSD) and (4) the percentage of successive normal-to-normal interval differences that are greater than 50 ms (pNN50) primarily reflects the parasympathetically mediated short-term alterations of autonomic tone (9).

#### 3.2.2. Non-Athletes

#### **Exercise Treadmill Test Protocol**

Symptom-limited treadmill exercise testing was performed using the standard Bruce protocol according to the American College of Cardiology / American Heart Association guidelines. (154,155) Where multiple qualifying tests were available for a given patient, the first test chronologically was chosen to maximize follow-up. Symptoms, BP, HR, rating of perceived exertion (RPE), and workload were electronically entered into the database during the final minute of each stage of exercise, peak exercise, 1 and 3 minutes of active recovery, and 6 minutes after peak exercise in passive recovery. Tests were supervised by a certified exercise specialist or a cardiac nurse and interpreted by a cardiologist, who was immediately available for emergencies.

#### **Exercise Treadmill Test Variables**

Exercise data used in analyses included percentage of predicted FAC calculated from published equations from our laboratory with adjustment for age and sex. (137) Patients with an FAC of 80% were considered either grossly unfit or unable to exercise adequately to achieve peak HR. A positive exercise ECG was defined by standard criteria. An abnormal exercise ECG was defined as any test with 1.0 mm ST deviation irrespective of whether the resting ST segments were normal. Resting HR obtained in the standing

position and peak HR were identified and used to calculate the HR reserve (difference between peak and resting HR). The HR recovery was defined as peak HR minus HR at 1 minute of active recovery (1.7 miles per hour/0% grade) and was considered abnormal if it was less than 12 beats/min. (10)

#### Outcomes

Outcomes were taken from Mayo Clinic patient records and the Minnesota Death Index, which was reviewed in March, 2016. A death was considered to be CV-related if a CV condition was included among the first three listed causes in the Minnesota Death Index. CV mortality data was classified using International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9 (391, 391.9, 394-398, 402, 404, 410-414, 415-417, 420-429, 430-438, 440-448, 451-454, 456-459) and ICD 10 (I101, I05-I09, I11, I13, I20-I25, I26-I28, I30-I52, I60-69, I70-I79, I80-89) codes. Cancer death was also defined by ICD 9 (173, 235-239, 273, 569, 602, 622-624) and ICD 10 (C00-C26, C30-C41, C43-C58, C60-C80, C7A, C7B, C81-C96) codes.

### **3.3.** Statistical analyses

#### Athletes (Research Aims 1-2)

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 15.0 program package.

Age was compared using two-sample t-test, while gender and ECG characteristics were compared using Fisher's exact test. Differences between groups were evaluated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) (grouping variable: either sport intensity or kind of sport activity; dependent variable: age or recording time), while gender distributions were compared using Fisher's exact test (rows: pairs of either sport intensity or kind of sport activity, columns: gender). Differences between HRV parameters of the studied groups were assessed after normalizing square-root transformation by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with age as a covariate (grouping variable: either sport intensity or kind of sport activity, dependent variable one of HRV parameters). Pairwise comparisons of age-corrected means were performed using Tukey–Kramer post hoc test. For significant differences shown in text effect sizes (e.s.) are also presented. Data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) or, categorical data are presented as

percentages; in case of square-root transformed data, back-transformed (squared) mean and confidence interval (CI). Normal distribution curves were fitted by square root transformation, and lower cut-off values were determined at 5 %.

#### Non-Athletes (Research Aims 3-4)

For the exercise testing data, statistical analyses were carried out using SAS Studio Version 5. Statistical analyses proceeded in 2 parts: (1) create a preliminary cohort of patients without CVD or drugs affecting HR and identify the comorbidities that influence peak HR and (2) determine the relationship between exercise HR and sex in a pure cohort with those comorbidities eliminated. Baseline characteristics and exercise test variables in the preliminary cohort were compared by sex using 2-sided t tests for continuous variables and the chi-square test of continuity for categorical variables. Analysis of variance using the general linear model was used to identify factors affecting peak HR with adjustment for sex and age. Factors included in the model were diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and unfit status (FAC< 50%).

Patient characteristics, outcomes, and exercise data were also analyzed by smoking status. Differences among continuous variables were assessed by analysis of variance under the general linear model (SAS PROC GLM) with multiple comparisons handled by Tukey's method, while logistic regression (SAS PROC LOGISTIC) was used to determine differences in discrete variables according to smoking status. For the primary analysis of smoking-related comorbidities diabetes, hypertension, and obesity, logistic regression models were adjusted for age and sex. Differences among smoking groups in total, CV, and cancer death were tested using Cox proportional hazards regression (SAS PROC PHREG) with adjustment for age, sex, and the 3 smoking-related comorbidities. Finally, we also analyzed mortality by smoking status and level of CRF. Never smokers with normal CRF formed the referent group, then the differences between hazard ratios were tested within the groups with the reference of normal CRF never, past and current smokers.

P < .05 was considered significant for all analyses.

# 4. Results

## 4.1. Electrocardiographic Findings

### 4.1.1. Study Population

Standard ECG screening was applied in 227 Caucasian athletes (male: 180, age: 27.2  $\pm$  8.7). Elite athletes (n = 155) including several members of the Hungarian Olympic team, masters (n = 16), non-elite athletes (n = 56) and 89 controls (male: 57, age: 28.1  $\pm$  6.8) were examined. No difference was found in age between athletes and controls, but the rate of female gender was higher in controls. Athletes performed various sports, mainly kayaking and canoeing, water polo and rowing. They were in diverse phases of training, with 51.5% in training period, 13.2% in speed up period and 10% competing.

### 4.1.2. Training-related Physiological ECG Findings

According to our results, almost all athlete had at least one training-related ECG sign. Sinus bradycardia, early repolarization and isolated voltage criteria of LVH were common and found more often in athletes compared to the control group (**Table 2, Figure 13**). Incomplete right bundle branch block and 1<sup>st</sup> degree AV block were often seen as well, but no differences were found between groups. Marked sinus arrhythmia and transient junctional rhythm also appeared in some athletes and controls (**Figure 14**).

ECC findings	Athletes		Controls	
ECG mungs	Ν	%	Ν	%
Sinus bradycardia	116	51.1**	12	13.5
Early repolarization	146	64.3**	32	35.9
Left ventricular hypertrophy $^{\times}$	52	22.9**	7	7.8
Incomplete right bundle branch block	70	30.8	28	31.5
1 <sup>st</sup> degree AV block	25	11.0	6	6.7
Junctional rhythm	2	0.9	1	1.1

Table 2. Incidence	of physiological,	training related EC	G changes.
--------------------	-------------------	---------------------	------------

(× isolated voltage criteria) \*\* P < .005 versus controls



**Figure 13.** A characteristic athletic ECG of a 23-year old elite male rower. Sinus bradycardia (mean heart rate: 57/min), sinus arrhythmia (horizontal arrows), incomplete right bundle branch block (lighter upsloping arrow), early repolarization in V3–V5 leads (darker upsloping arrow) and vagotonic T-waves (downsloping arrows)



**Figure 14.** Resting ECG recording of a 24-year old elite female water polo player. Marked sinus arrhythmia with visible variability of RR intervals (arrows). Junctional beats (circles) follow longer pauses mimicking AV-node disease. Marked, 2–3 mm early repolarization in V3 lead.

### 4.1.3. Training-unrelated Pathological ECG Findings

Some ECG signs considered pathological such as repolarization changes including Twave abnormalities, ST-segment changes and signs of pathological LVH were found more often in athletes compared to the control group (**Table 3**). In 15% of the athletes, we recorded T-wave inversion classified as pathological. In most cases, T-wave inversion occurred in adjacent inferior or V1-V3 leads. Out of the ST-segment changes considered training unrelated, about half were  $\geq 1$  mm horizontal or down-sloping ST-depression in inferior, lateral or precordial leads, some were 1-3.5 mm descending or horizontal STelevation in V1–V4 leads, few were 1–2 mm horizontal, flat ST-segment elevation in inferior leads. LVH considered pathological – mostly associated with T-wave inversion - was presented in more than 5% of the athletes while in no controls (Figure 15). Signs of RVH, atrial enlargement and conduction abnormalities were rare either in athletes or controls with no difference between groups. Left posterior hemiblock, left and right bundle branch blocks were found in some athletes while these appeared in no controls (Table 3). We found complete right bundle branch block (CRBBB, QRS: 120 msec) in one 22 year old elite male rower and complete left bundle branch block (CLBBB, QRS: 160 msec) in one 16 year old non-elite male scrapper. ECG recordings of a 24 year old elite male canoeist and a 37 year old triathlon athlete raised the possibility of preexcitation syndromes (Figure 16)

All athletes who had any pathological ECG abnormality underwent our detailed cardiology exam including echocardiography and cardiac MR. We did not find any stuctural heart disease, therefore no athlete was disqualified.

ECC findings	Athletes		Controls	
ECG munigs	Ν	%	Ν	%
T-wave changes	34	15.0*	5	5.6
ST- segment changes	15	6.6*	1	1.1
Pathological left ventricular hypertrophy	12	5.3*	-	-
Right ventricular hypertrophy	6	2.6	1	1.1
Atrial hypertrophy	6	2.6	1	1.1
Left anterior hemiblock	5	2.2	1	1.1
Left posterior hemiblock	3	1.3	-	-
Delta-wave	2	0.8	-	-
Left bundle branch block	1	0.4	-	-
Right bundle branch block	1	0.4	-	-

**Table 3.** Incidence of pathological, training-unrelated ECG changes.

\* P < .05 versus controls



**Figure 15.** Left ventricular hypertrophy considered pathological in an asymptomatic 31 year old elite male rower. Marked sinus bradycardia (mean heart rate: 43/min), incomplete right bundle branch block, early repolarization and vagotonic T-waves in precordial leads. Cornell-criteria of left ventricular hypertrophy (S in V3 and R in aVL  $\geq$  20 mm) and 1–3 mm T-wave inversion in leads III and aVF



**Figure 16**. Sinus bradycardia (mean heart rate: 58/min). Delta waves appearing in inferior and lateral leads (arrows), causing slightly widened QRS komplexes (110 msec) and shortened AV-conduction (PQ: 100 msec) on the ECG recording of a 24 year old elite male canoeist (arrows)

### 4.2. Holter ECG Findings

### 4.2.1. Analysis by Study Group

The Holter ECG screening was applied in 138 athletes (male 110, age  $28.4 \pm 8.3$ , recording time  $21.3 \pm 3.0$  h) and 100 healthy controls. Characteristics of the study groups are given in **Table 4**. No difference was found in recording time among the studied groups. Masters athletes were older than all the other groups by study design. The ratio of males was higher in all the athlete groups compared to the controls (**Table 4**). All studied short- and long-term time-domain parameters of HRV were higher in elite athletes compared to controls [SDNN (CI) 225.3 (216.2–234.5) versus 158.6 (150.2–167.1) ms (e.s.:1.43); SDNN Index (CI) 99.6 (95.6–103.7) versus 72.4 (68.7–76.2) ms (e.s.:1.32); pNN50 (CI) 24.2 (22.2–26.3) versus 14.4 (12.7–16.3) % (e.s.: 0.96); RMSSD (CI) 71.8 (67.6–76.2) versus 50.8 (46.9–54.8) ms (e.s.:0.96); p<0.001] (**Figure 17**). All studied HRV parameters of masters were higher than controls. No difference could be found between HRV values of elite athletes and masters. No effect of gender on the studied HRV parameters could be established.

Table 4. Th	e studied	groups
-------------	-----------	--------

	Ν	Age ± SD (year)	Male/female	Recording time ± SD (h)
Elite athletes	121	$26.7\pm7.1^{\#}$	94/27*	$21.2 \pm 3.1$
Masters	17	$40.0\pm 6.8$	16/1*	$21.9\pm2.1$
Controls	100	$28.3\pm6.9^{\text{\#}}$	57/43	$22.0\pm2.4$

<sup>#</sup> P < .001 versus masters, \* P < .01 versus controls



**Figure 17.** HRV analysis in elite athletes, masters athletes and controls. a SDNN, b SDNN Index, c pNN50 (%), and d RMSSD. (SDNN standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals, SDNN Index the mean of all the 5-min standard deviations of normal-to-normal intervals during the 24-h period, pNN50 the percentage of differences between successive normal-to-normal intervals over 24 h that are greater than 50 ms, RMSSD the root mean square successive difference.)

## P < .001 versus control

### 4.2.2. Analysis by Sport

Athletes were classified into six sport groups, as identified in **Figure 18**. Subgroup analysis by sport activities was carried out in cyclists + triathlonists, canoe and kayak paddlers, waterpolo players, rowers, runners and combat fighters (kick-boxers and thai boxers) (**Table 5**). Runners were older than all other studied sport groups as most of them were ultramarathon runners. The ratio of females was higher in the waterpolo group compared to canoe and kayak paddlers, rowers and cyclists + triathlonists. All studied age-corrected HRV parameters were the highest in canoe and kayak paddlers and cyclists + triathlonists and the lowest in runners (**Figure 19**). Canoe and kayak paddlers had higher SDNN index: 110.0 (103.1–117.2) versus 81.6 (71.0–92.9) ms (e.s.:1.33), pNN50: 27.7 (24.2–31.4) versus 17.2 (12.5–22.7) ms (e.s.:1.00), and RMSSD values: 81.9 (74.1–88.1) versus 54.4 (42.3–63.7) ms (e.s.:1.15), cyclists + triathlonists had higher SDNN index value than runners 103.8 (94.2–114.0) versus 81.6 (71.0–92.9) ms (e.s.:1.05).



Figure 18. Sports of the studied athletes.

	Ν	Age ± SD (year)	Male/female	Recording time ± SD (h)
Kayak-canoe	42	$28.7\pm9.4*$	37/5≠	$21.6\pm2.5$
Rowing	27	$24.6\pm6.5*$	22/5≠	$20.9\pm4.1$
Waterpolo	26	$28.7\pm6.0*$	14/12	$21.0\pm3.0$
Bicycle + triathlon	20	$29.1\pm8.4*$	18/2≠	$21.8\pm1.7$
Running	13	$37.9\pm5.0$	10/3	$21.3\pm2.2$
Combat fighting	10	$22.2\pm4.7*$	9/1	$20.5\pm4.4$

#### **Table 5.** Subgroup analysis by sport activity: the studied groups

<sup>\*</sup> P < .05 versus running, <sup> $\neq$ </sup> P < .05 versus waterpolo



**Figure 19.** Subgroup analysis by sport activities. a SDNN, b SDNN Index, c pNN50 (%), and d RMSSD. (SDNN standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals, SDNN Index the mean of all the 5-min standard deviations of normal-to-normal intervals during the 24-h period, pNN50 the percentage of differences between successive normal-to-normal intervals over 24 h that are greater than 50 ms, RMSSD the root mean square successive difference.) \* P < .05 versus running

### 4.2.3. Sample individual HRV analyses

**Figure 20** shows representative individual recordings of HRV analysis demonstrating the duration of sinus RR intervals compared to the preceding RR intervals in four individuals under different intensity training. The RR variability visibly rises with the intensity of training, which is highest in elite athletes. As compared to the recommended normal values, the HRV parameters of all studied persons fell into the normal ranges. (156)



**Figure 20.** Duration of sinus RR intervals compared to the preceding RR intervals during the recorded period. Representative diagrams of RR variability in individuals under different intensity training. a Elite athlete No. 129, b master No. 2, c control No. 57

### 4.2.4. Comparison of Lower Cut-off Values

In the controls, the 5 % lower cut-off values were comparable to the published normal values (SDNN: 97.6 ms, SDNN Index 44.1 ms, pNN50 2.6 %, RMSSD 24.6 ms). On the contrary, the normal distribution curves of all studied HRV parameters shifted to the right with substantially higher cut-off values in elite athletes (SDNN 147.4 ms, SDNN Index 66.6 ms, pNN50 9.7 %, RMSSD 37.9 ms (**Figure 21**).



**Figure 21.** Normal distribution curves and lower cut-off values of elite athletes and controls. a SDNN, b SDNN Index, c pNN50 (%), and d RMSSD. (SDNN standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals, SDNN Index the mean of all the 5-min standard deviations of normal-to-normal intervals during the 24-h period, pNN50 the percentage of differences between successive normal-tonormal intervals over 24 h that are greater than 50 ms, RMSSD the root mean square successive difference.)

### 4.3. Exercise Test Results

### 4.3.1. Study Population

Our cohort was derived from adults consecutively referred for exercise stress testing at Mayo Clinic, Rochester, between September 21, 1993, and December 20, 2010. We initially reviewed 105,220 exercise tests on 79,769 unique patients. Of these, 37,010 met preliminary inclusion and exclusion criteria as described in **Figure 22**. Clinical characteristics of the preliminary cohort are presented according to sex in **Table 6**. Approximately 90% were white, 3% African American, and 7% another race. The low prevalence of hypertension was likely explained by the exclusion for HR attenuating drugs. In general, the risk factor burden was low, consistent with the sociodemographic characteristics of the cohort and the exclusion for CVD.



**Figure 22.** Flowchart of the study population (September 1993 - December 2010) for heart rate responses in men and women.

	Men (n=24,922)	Women (n=12,088)	Р
Age (years)	$54 \pm 9$	$55\pm9$	<.001
Hypertension (%)	18	16	<.001
Diabetes (%)	6	4	<.001
Body Mass Index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$29 \pm 5$	$27\pm 6$	<.001
Obesity (%)	35	28	<.001
Current Smoking (%)	10	9	.002
Unfit physical status (%)	19	21	.002

Table 6. Baseline characteristics in men vs women in the preliminary clinical cohort

Continuous data are presented mean  $\pm$  SD, categorical data as percentage of sample.

For the smoking analyses, after applying our exclusion criteria – exclusion of multiple tests (n=21,687); non-Minnesota residents (n=45,885); patients with history of baseline CVD (n=9,173); patients younger than 30 years old (n=1,304) and those patients whose smoking data was incomplete (n=1,425) – the final cohort included 21,981 patients (**Figure 23**).



**Figure 23.** Flowchart of the study population (September 1993 - December 2010) for the smoking project.

Their demographic and clinical data by smoking status (never, past and current smokers) are provided in **Table 7**, along with the long-term outcome data.

	Never	Past	Current
	Smokers	Smokers	Smokers
	N = 12,427	N = 7,090	N = 2,464
Age (years)	$50.9 \pm 11.1^2$	$54.3 \pm 10.8^{3}$	$48.2\pm9.5^1$
Female (%)	$4833(38.9)^2$	$2315(32.7)^1$	827 (33.6) <sup>1</sup>
Hypertension (%)	$2764 (22.2)^1$	$1968 (27.8)^2$	$500(20.3)^1$
Diabetes (%)	$664 (5.3)^1$	$533(7.5)^2$	$137 (5.6)^1$
Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$28.7\pm5.6^{1}$	$29.3\pm5.5^2$	$28.7\pm5.8^{1}$
Obesity (BMI $\ge$ 30, %)	4401 (35.4) <sup>1</sup>	$2853 (40.2)^2$	$920(37.4)^1$
All-cause mortality (%)	771 $(6.2)^1$	$750 (10.6)^3$	$228 (9.3)^2$
CV mortality (%)	$256(2.1)^1$	$279 (3.9)^3$	$83 (3.4)^2$
Cancer mortality (%)	$340(2.7)^1$	$352 (5.0)^3$	$105 (4.3)^2$

**Table 7.** Baseline characteristics by smoking status.

Continuous data are presented mean  $\pm$  SD; categorical data as number (percentage of sample). BMI = Body Mass Index.

Different superscript numbers indicate a statistically significant difference between groups at P < .05.

Past smokers were older, less likely female, and had significantly more obesity, hypertension, and diabetes compared to never smokers. Current smokers did not show an increased prevalence of obesity, hypertension, and diabetes compared to never smokers but had much higher rates of poor CRF. Comorbidity and mortality rates in **Table 7** – which are highest in past smokers – are not age and sex-adjusted.

### 4.3.2. General Exercise Test Results

Exercise test results are given in **Table 8**. Performance time was greater for men than for women, as expected. The FAC was near 100% for both sexes because we used our own laboratory standards for the FAC. (137) All tests were symptom limited; peak rating of perceived exertion averaged approximately 18 on the 6-20 Borg Scale. (157) Resting HR was higher for women than for men, but other HR parameters and BP parameters were higher for men than for women. Positive exercise ECG was slightly more common in men than in women, with no difference in the frequency of abnormal exercise ECG (includes all tests with 1 mm ST depression regardless of resting ST-T abnormalities). Note that the large sample size meant that very small, probably nonphysiological differences were nonetheless statistically significant.

	Men	Women	D
Exercise test parameters	(n=24,922)	(n=12,088)	P
Exercise time (min)	$9.8\pm2.3$	$7.6\pm2.0$	<.001
FAC (%)	$97\pm21$	$99\pm24$	<.001
Resting HR (bpm)	$76 \pm 13$	$80 \pm 12$	<.001
Percent predicted peak HR traditional (%)	$100 \pm 9$	$99\pm9$	<.001
Peak HR (bpm)	$166\pm17$	$163\pm16$	<.001
HR recovery (bpm)	$19\pm8$	$18\pm9$	.03
HR reserve (bpm)	$90\pm19$	$84 \pm 17$	<.001
Resting systolic BP (mmHg)	$125\pm17$	$120\pm18$	<.001
Resting diastolic BP (mmHg)	$81 \pm 11$	$77 \pm 11$	<.001
Peak systolic BP (mmHg)	$184\pm24$	$168\pm24$	<.001
Peak diastolic BP (mmHg)	$78\pm16$	$75\pm16$	.001
Peak RPE	$18 \pm 1$	$18 \pm 1$	.03
Abnormal ECG (%)	9	8	.07
Positive ECG (%)	5	4	<.001

**Table 8**. Exercise test parameters in men vs women in the preliminary clinical cohort.

Continuous data are presented mean  $\pm$  SD, categorical data as percentage of sample. Abbreviations: FAC = functional aerobic capacity; HR = heart rate; BP = blood pressure; RPE = rating of perceived exertion; ECG = electrocardiogram Table 9 provides the exercise test results by smoking status for the whole cohort of

21,981 patients.

Table 9. Exercise test results by smoking status.

Evoncian tost nonomators	Never	Past	Current
Exercise test parameters	Smokers	Smokers	Smokers
	N = 12,427	N = 7,090	N = 2,464
FAC (FAC, %)	$96.0 \pm 21.9^{1}$	$91.8 \pm 22.4^2$	$83.6 \pm 21.2^3$
Normal CRF (FAC >100%, %)	5314 (42.8) <sup>1</sup>	$2517 (35.5)^2$	526 (21.4) <sup>3</sup>
Reduced CRF ( $100 > FAC \ge 80\%$ , %)	4396 (35.4) <sup>1</sup>	2519 (35.5) <sup>1</sup>	873 (35.4) <sup>1</sup>
Poor CRF (FAC < 80%, %)	2717 (21.9) <sup>1</sup>	$2054 (29.0)^2$	1065 (43.2) <sup>3</sup>
Resting HR (bpm)	$76.9\pm13.0^2$	$76.3\pm13.0^1$	$77.9\pm12.9^3$
Peak exercise HR (bpm)	$165.7\pm19.0^{1}$	$159.7\pm20.4^2$	$158.2 \pm 20.3^3$
Percent predicted peak HR (%)	$97.8\pm9.5^{1}$	$96.2\pm10.6^2$	$92.1\pm10.9^3$
Peak HR < 85% predicted	1157 (9.3) <sup>1</sup>	980 (13.9) <sup>2</sup>	566 (23.0) <sup>3</sup>
Taking beta-blockers (%)	$1087 (8.8)^1$	$731 (10.3)^2$	224 (9.1) <sup>1,2</sup>
HR recovery	$19.3\pm8.9^{1}$	$17.7\pm8.7^2$	$16.8\pm8.6^3$
HR recovery < 13 bpm	2583 (20.8) <sup>1</sup>	1915 (27.0) <sup>2</sup>	734 (29.8) <sup>3</sup>
Resting systolic BP (mmHg)	$123.1\pm17.6^2$	$125.8\pm18.2^3$	$121.5\pm17.2^1$
Resting diastolic BP (mmHg)	$79.7\pm11.0^2$	$80.3\pm11.2^2$	$78.8\pm11.6^1$
Peak systolic BP (mmHg)	$175.5\pm24.7^{1}$	$179.2\pm25.9^2$	$174.8 \pm 27.0^{1}$
Peak diastolic BP (mmHg)	$75.2\pm16.3^{1}$	$78.1\pm15.5^3$	$76.8\pm15.9^2$
Highest RPE	$18.1\pm0.8^{1}$	$18.1\pm1.0^1$	$18.1\pm0.9^{1}$
Positive exercise ECG	521 (4.2) <sup>1</sup>	436 (6.2) <sup>2</sup>	73 (3.0) <sup>1</sup>
Abnormal exercise ECG	959 (7.7) <sup>1</sup>	710 (10.0) <sup>2</sup>	136 (5.5) <sup>1</sup>

Continuous data are presented mean  $\pm$  SD; categorical data as number (percentage of sample). Abbreviations: FAC = functional aerobic capacity, CRF = cardiorespiratory fitness, HR = heart rate, BP = blood pressure, RPE = rating of perceived exertion, ECG = electrocardiogram.

Functional aerobic capacity (FAC) defined as 100% x actual time/predicted time for age and sex. Rating of perceived exertion (RPE) measured on standard Borg Scale (6 - 20). Positive exercise electrocardiogram (ECG) defined by standard methods. Abnormal exercise electrocardiogram (ECG) defined as positive or abnormal but not diagnostic due to resting ST-T abnormalities.

Different superscript numbers indicate a statistically significant difference between groups at P < .05.

Because of the large sample size, even minor differences, such as HR and BP parameters may reach statistical significance, but some differences compared to never smokers were quite pronounced. There are significant trends towards decreasing CRF with smoking status. Current smokers in particular show lower CRF, less vigorous HR response, and more abnormal HR recovery than the never smokers. In general, past smokers were intermediate in all these variables. Among current smokers, more than 40% of the patients had poor CRF versus approximately 22% among never smokers. The prevalence of positive or abnormal exercise ECGs was relatively low in all three groups.

## 4.3.3. Peak Heart Rate by Age in Men versus Women in the Preliminary Clinical Cohort

To further examine the relationship between peak HR and age in men versus women, we separately plotted peak HR by age for men and women in the preliminary cohort of 37,010 patients (**Figures 24, A and B**). Using linear regression, lines predicting peak HR by age are shown in **Figure 24**, along with 90% CIs and the traditional line depicting 220 minus age. Note a large variance around the regression line in both sexes. The regression line more closely approximated 220 minus age in terms of both intercept and slope for men versus women.

### 4.3.4. Analysis of Factors Affecting Peak Heart Rate

Using multivariate regression on the preliminary cohort, comorbidities significantly affecting peak HR included poor exercise capacity (beta coefficient = - 11 beats/min), current smoking (-6 bpm), diabetes (-3 bpm), and obesity (-2 bpm). We excluded patients with these comorbidities to form the pure cohort of 19,013 patients (51.3% of full cohort). Peak HR was again plotted against age for men and women separately in **Figures 24**, **C and D**. The distribution of peak HR by age became tighter (with improved R<sup>2</sup>) after eliminating patients with modifying risk factors, and the regression lines more closely approximated the traditional 220 minus age formula. For men, the regression line in our pure cohort was peak HR = 221 - 0.95 x age. For women, it was peak HR = 210 - 0.79 x age, which was still substantially different from the traditional 220 minus age formula. Comparing the relationship of peak HR to age between men with women in our pure cohort, both the regression slopes and intercepts were different at P<.0001.



**Figure 24**. Scatter plot diagrams of the peak heart rate on the preliminary, unadjusted clinical cohort by age in men (A) and women (B), and on the final, adjusted clinical cohort in men (C) and women (D). Results of linear regression are shown as continuous lines, with 90% confidence intrevals shown as broken lines, whereas the traditional formula of 220 minus age is shown as dotted lines.

## 4.3.5. Exercise Test Parameters by Age in Men versus Women in the Pure Clinical Cohort

We divided the final data set into 5 age groups to analyze the effect of aging on HR parameters in men and women. All exercise HR parameters showed an inverse linear relationship to age in both sexes (**Figure 25**). Resting HR was higher in women than in men in all age groups. The HR reserve was lower in women than in men and showed continuously decreasing differences by successive age groups. In the 40 to 49 and 50 to 59 years age groups, significant differences were found in peak HR, but the curves crossed at the 60 to 69 years age group, and so older women had slightly higher peak HR than did men. Differences in HR recovery were small on comparing men and women, with a significant difference only in the age group 50 to 59 years.



**Figure 25.** Resting HR (A), HR reserve (B), peak HR (C), and HR recovery (D) by age in men versus women in the final cohort. Data points represent mean  $\pm$  SD. HR = heart rate. Significance levels: \*\*\* P < .05, \* P < .05.

### 4.3.6. Exercise Testing and Mortality Risk

### **Comorbidities by Smoking Status**

For the next step of the analysis, logistic regression with age and sex adjustment was applied on comorbidities by smoking status to determine the risk of the presence of diabetes, obesity and hypertension according to smoking status. The results are shown on **Figure 26**. Past smokers had a greater prevalence of obesity, hypertension, and diabetes compared to never smokers. Current smokers did not show an increased prevalence of these comorbidities compared to never smokers.



**Figure 26.** Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals for comorbidities adjusted for age and sex. Never smokers was the referent group. P values indicate significance of the hazard ratios compared to never smokers.

#### Outcomes

There were 1749 deaths (9.0 %) over a mean follow-up of  $12.4 \pm 5.0$  years. Consistent with exclusion of baseline CVD and residence in a state (Minnesota) with overall low CV death rates, cancer death was actually more common than CV deaths in our study group. Mortality in the never smokers (referent) was 6.2%. Figure 27 shows the Cox regression analysis for total, CV and cancer mortality adjusted for age, sex, diabetes, hypertension and obesity.



**Figure 27.** Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals for total, cardiovascular and cancer death adjusted for age, sex, diabetes, obesity and hypertension. Never smokers was the referent group. P values indicate significance of the hazard ratios compared to never smokers.

Never smokers formed the referent group for all analyses. Total, CV and cancer death rates were only slightly increased in past smokers versus never smokers but were much higher in current smokers. There was no overlap between CIs in any group. The hazard ratio was the highest for CV mortality in current smokers (2.95; 95% CI: 2.3 - 3.8).

We analyzed the effect of CRF on mortality in the smoking groups (**Figure 28**). Total mortality in never, past and current smokers was inversely related to CRF as shown on **Figure 28a**. Never smokers with normal CRF (FAC  $\geq 100\%$ ) formed the referent group for the first part of the analysis; then we performed the comparisons within smoking groups using the normal CRF for each specific smoking group as the referent.



**Figure 28.** Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals for total mortality (3a), cardiovascular mortality (3b), and cancer mortality (3c) according to smoking status and level of cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) adjusted for age, sex, diabetes, hypertension, and obesity. Never smokers with normal CRF was the referent group. P values in the bars indicate the significance of hazard ratios compared to referent group. Differences within the smoking groups indicated by dashed lines. P values indicate significance of the hazard ratios compared to normal CRF groups in never, past and current smokers.

CRF = cardiorespiratory fitness

Poor CRF = patients with FAC  $\leq 80\%$ 

Reduced CRF = patients with  $100 \le FAC < 80\%$ 

Normal CRF = patients with FAC > 100%

Compared to the normal CRF/never smokers, all groups except the normal CRF/past smokers showed increased risk of all mortality. The current smokers with poor CRF had the highest mortality (hazard ratio: 5.3 with 95% CI [4.3 - 6.5]). Patients with normal CRF had the lowest mortality in all smoking groups. According to the comparisons within the smoking groups patients with better CRF had lower mortality risk in past and current smokers as well. However, we did not find differences in the hazard ratios of reduced versus normal CRF (hazard ratio: 2.2 with 95% CI [1.6 – 2.9] versus. hazard ratio: 1.5 with 95% CI [1.0 - 2.3]) in current smokers. We did a secondary analysis using all never smokers as a referent group (not showing on the figure) and found that fit (CRF  $\geq 100\%$ ) current smokers did not have increased mortality versus all never smokers (hazard ratio = 0.98; 99% CI: 0.67 - 1.50), and mortality of fit past smokers was actually lower versus all never smokers (hazard ratio = 0.80; 99% CI: 0.64 - 0.95). We analyzed CV and cancer mortality as well (Figures 28b and 28c). The pattern of cancer mortality was quite similar compared to total mortality, but the effect of CRF was more pronounced regarding the CV mortality between each group. The hazard ratio for total mortality in current smokers was 5.3 with 95% CI [4.3 - 6.5], while the hazard ratio for CV mortality in current smokers was 7.1 with 95% CI [4.9 – 10.3].

There were 200 (11.4%) patients (with 63 CV death and 116 cancer death) who died in the first three years of the follow-up. We excluded them from all mortality (total, CV, cancer and CRF level) to study if the pre-morbidity had any effect on our results. After their exclusion from the mortality analyses, our hazard ratios and P-values did not change significantly.

# **5.** Discussion

Our investigations have covered a broad approach to the clinical problem of establishing CV risk. The continuum of individuals studied ranges from young athletes and masters athletes with high levels of CV fitness, who would mostly be at the lowest possible risk level if not for their high intensity training and competitive performance, all the way to adults who are current smokers with very much reduced levels of CRF and at very high risk for total and CV mortality. A number of evaluative techniques – all involving some aspect of ECG – have been explored: the simple 12-lead resting ECG; long-term ECG recordings by Holter monitoring with special analysis of HRV; and exercise ECG. Although imaging now dominates the practice of cardiology, we show that there continues to be great power in the simple things – the resting ECG, the pattern of response of the HR, and the ability to perform aerobic exercise.

### 5.1. The Role of ECG in Athletic Screening

The screening of athletes with routine ECG requires substantial knowledge in the field of athletic adaptation. Many ECG findings that are considered abnormal in the general population can be normal in athletes as the result of extensive physical training. On the other hand, ECG abnormalities can be the first signs of CVDs that may lead to SCD in athletes. According to the latest guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology, athletic ECG changes can be divided into two groups: physiological, common, training related ECG findings and pathological, uncommon, training-unrelated ECG abnormalities. (96)

### 5.1.1. Physiological ECG Changes

As a result of the physiological adaptation, some training-related ECG signs appeared in almost every athlete in our study. Sinus bradycardia was observed in more than 50% of the athletes in accordance with earlier data, while only in about 10% of the controls. (158,159) As one of the most common training-related ECG finding, sinus bradycardia is most often attributed to high parasympathetic nerve activity. (22) However, several researchers question the essential role of vagal tone increase in the bradycardia of athletes. Reduced sympathetic tone or the decrease of intrinsic HR due to the remodeling of the sinoatrial node may also contribute to this phenomenon. (160)

As a result of enhanced autonomic regulation, marked sinus arrhythmia is also a common ECG finding in athletes. In some cases – mainly when it is associated with junctional beats following longer pauses – this functional AV-dissociation can be deceptive and may also imitate second or third degree AV block, therefore it has to be differentiated from severe AV-node diseases. (161) On the standard ECG recordings, no severe AV block was found in our population. Slowed AV conduction presenting as 1<sup>st</sup> degree AV block was observed in about 10% of the athletes. Athough, 1<sup>st</sup> degree AV block is considered to be training-related due to increased parasympathetic and decreased sympathetic tone in athletes (22), no difference was found between athletes and controls.

Incomplete right bundle branch block (IRBBB) was found to be present in about 30% of both groups. In contrast to earlier results, referring to this phenomenon as a result of RV adaptation to exercise, IRBBB was not more frequent in athletes compared to controls in our study. (162) If IRBBB is associated with other ECG abnormalities such as repolarization changes, clinical signs or symptoms, structural heart diseases such as

ostium secundum atrial septal defect must be excluded. We found this combination in one athlete without any structural heart abnormality. As IRBBB is a common feature in the children, its presence in athletes beyond 18 years of age may indicate retention of pediatric ECG features due to enhanced autonomic function and RV dilatation. Sinus arrhythmia, which was mentioned above as a common feature of the athletic ECG, is another pediatric ECG feature that continues into athletic adulthood.

### 5.1.2. Pathological ECG Abnormalities

In contrast to IRBBB, complete right bundle branch block (CRBBB) is categorized as a pathological ECG finding. Athletes with this ECG abnormality must undergo a thorough cardiac examination to exclude structural diseases, since ARVC or Brugada syndrome often manifest as CRBBB. (96) However, Kim et al. found that increasing ORS duration and CRBBB can be a result of more exercise training and RV enlargement in healthy athletes. (162) We found the presence of CRBBB in a single athlete, and subsequent detailed cardiac examination did not show any sign of structural heart disease. Another pathological ECG finding, left bundle brach block (LBBB) is uncommon in healthy individuals and it can be a strong and early ECG marker of ischemic or structural heart diseases. We found LBBB in only one athlete without any sign of ischemic or structural heart disease. Hemiblocks were also rare and there was no difference in the prevalence of left anterior and posterior hemiblock between athletes and controls. While left anterior hemiblock is more common and usually appears without evidence of structural heart disease, isolated left posterior hemiblock is very rare and if associated with RBBB, and it may reflect an increased risk of significant AV block. No bifascicular blocks were seen in our population.

In athletes, WPW-syndrome can lead to SCD due to the increased risk of atrial fibrillation and the occurance of FBI tachycardia. (163) Ventricular pre-excitation presented as deltawaves on the standard ECG was registered in two athletes. Frequency-dependent marked delta wave broadening was observed on their 24-hour Holter monitoring. Both of them underwent an electrophysiological testing and the accessory pathways were terminated with radiofrequency catheter ablation and they were permitted to continue sport.

Isolated voltage criteria for LVH were observed in more than 1/5 of the athletes, substantially more often than in the control group. LVH was considered pathological if

the voltage criterion for LVH was associated with at least one additional non-voltage criterion for example left atrial enlargement, left-axis deviation, ST-segment or T-wave abnormalities or pathological Q waves. Mainly because of the appearance of repolarization disorders, signs of pathological LVH were also diagnosed often in athletes and in controls. These changes can also point to structural heart diseases, which can lead to SCD. Primarily, pathological LVH has to be differentiated from HCM, which is the major cause of SCD in the United States (67). On a characteristic HCM ECG, T-wave inversion in two adjacent leads, deep septal Q-waves, signs of left atrial hypertrophy or arrhythmias (ventricular tachycardia, atrial fibrillation, supraventricular tachycardia) may be observed beside the QRS voltage criteria of LVH. (164) In the group of athletes with pathological hypertrophy ECG signs, no person was diagnosed with HCM with imaging methods. (165)

Referring to the repolarization abnormalities, training related ECG signs of early repolarization were the most frequent changes on the athlete's ECG in our study population. J-point elevation especially in precordial leads has been considered a benign, training related ECG finding. (166) In contrast, early repolarization appearing in inferior or lateral leads, particularly if associated with the widening of the terminal part of the QRS called notching or slurring may be associated with SCD. (107,108) In our study, early repolarization was mainly observed in precordial leads. QRS slurring or notching in inferioration in the detailed cardiac examination.

Although ST-segment elevation due to early repolarization is a common finding on the athletic ECG, ST-segment depression is rarely observed and is usually concomitant with T-wave inversion. (96) Besides the LVH, these ECG alterations are also recognized manifestations of HCM. Moreover, ST depression showed correlation with cardiac arrest in HCM patients. (31) ST depression can also be a sign of myocardial ischemia due to CAD mainly in athletes over 35 years of age, or may indicate anatomical abnormalities of the coronary arteries - especially in the young. (46) In the case of down-sloping ST segment elevation in the right precordial (V1-V3) leads, Brugada syndrome should also be considered. As compared to athletes, patients with the Brugada syndrome have lower Sokolow index, longer QRS duration, while the amplitude of maximum ST elevation is greater and does not present beyond right precordial leads and is rarely associated with

giant positive T-waves. (167) However, in athletes younger than 16 years of age and in Afro-Caribbean athletes the combination of early repolarization and inverted T-waves in precordial leads can be normal variants. (168) The differential diagnosis between Brugada–like pattern and athletic normal variant early repolarization is still challenging, but some new ECG criteria were established recently. (169,170) In our study, ST segment changes, mainly horizontal ST depression in inferolateral leads were also found more often in athletes compared to controls, whereas no underlying structural heart disease or chanellopathy could be diagnosed.

T-wave changes are considered to be common ECG abnormalities in athletes. According to the ESC recommendation T-wave inversion  $\geq 2$  mm in at least two adjacent leads is defined as pathological, however the significance of T-wave inversion < 2 mm is unclear and also suggested as a potentially pathological sign. (96) In our study T-wave inversion  $\geq 1$  mm was cathegorized as pathological also in accordance with the "Seattle Criteria". (158) In case of pathological T-wave inversion, HCM and Brugada syndrome should be considered as mentioned above. Moreover, ARVC should be excluded. ARVC, the major cause of SCD of athletes in Italy, is typically associated with T-wave inversion in V1-V3 leads with epsilon-waves, QRS prolongation or arrhythmias on the ECG. In our athlete group, T-wave inversion was the most common training unrelated ECG finding, observed in 15% of the athletes, compared to the 5% of controls. In most of our cases, T-wave inversion was observed in adjacent inferior or right precordial leads without any diagnosed cardiac diseases.

### 5.2. Autonomic Adaptation in Athletes

Physiological ECG changes and pathological ECG abnormalities are often observable during long-term ECG recording. However, Holter ECG has some other features to predict CV risk, such as HRV analyses. We showed that autonomic adaptation is a part of functional adaptation to exercise and it is concomitant to electrical adaptation. Intensive research of HRV as a marker of cardiac autonomic function was carried out in the past few decades. (40,41,53) Accordingly, several trials examined the influences of physical activity on HRV. The enhancing effect of training on HRV was observed in healthy participants as well as in CAD, heart failure, obesity, type-2 diabetes mellitus and following myocardial infarction. (120,121) In healthy participants, baseline autonomic status has been shown to be an important determinant of cardiac autonomic response to exercise. (122) Some previous studies also revealed an increase in HRV parameters in athletes versus healthy controls. (171,172) This was assumed to be a marker of chronic adaptation in athletes. As a characteristic of athletic conditioning, HRV analysis may be useful for following CV fitness development and determining optimal training intensity. (126) Some data have shown the correlation of HRV measures with ventilatory anaerobic threshold and lactate threshold, parameters also playing important role in the identification of appropriate physical training intensity. On the other hand, the decrease of HRV is used as a marker of overtraining and exhaustion. (114,119) Following high eccentric strength training, the decrease of specific high frequency domain HRV parameters beside the increase of low frequency HRV values was supposed to indicate autonomic imbalance towards sympathetic modulation predominance in healthy older men. (132) Moreover, those athletes who were trained taking into account the changes of their HRV parameters showed higher ventilatory threshold and better athletic achievements compared to the ones with fixed training plans that did not include adjustment for HRV. (115) However, the methodology of measuring and calculating HRV has not been standardized due to differring recording time and the variability of measured parameters. No systematic evaluation of the effects of different sports and training load on HRV has been previously made. Moreover, the low number of study participants, the short-term follow-up and the lack of athletic normal values did not allow the selection of athletes with pathologically decreased HRV.

### 5.2.1. Autonomic Adaptation by Sport Intensity

In our study, expressly higher time domain HRV parameters were calculated following long-term Holter monitoring in a composite group of 138 healthy athletes as compared to 100 controls. This phenomenon identifies the notable role of autonomic regulation in the adaptation of the athletic heart to the extreme load. In concordance with our results, a meta-analysis including short-term HRV measures of more than 300 athletes reported increased HRV values in athletes and presumed that the modality of sport and the unit of HRV measure could influence their results. (133)

We also studied the long term effect of performance on HRV time domain values for we could not find any other study comparing HRV values in elite and master athletes. After decades of high intesity physical training, the lower intensity activity did not affect HRV, as we did not find any difference between measurements of elite and master athletes. Our results proved that the enhancement of autonomic regulation due to more and higher intensity training was permanent. Therefore, master athletes had higher, not lower HRV versus the younger controls, the opposite of what might be expected based on the age difference alone. In connection with this, we did not find significant variation in HRV according to gender or age among the athletes. In accordance with our results, a 24-hour Holter monitoring study of active and sedentary master athletes also showed higher time domain parameters in active masters compared to sedentary counterparts. (172)

### 5.2.2. Autonomic Adaptation by Sport Modality

Our detailed analysis underlined that different sports activities affect the alterations of HRV, likely reflecting differing demands of training – such as endurance versus strength, continuous versus interval, ratio of training to competition. The highest HRV values were detected in canoe and kayak paddlers and bicyclists + triathlonists, while the lowest in runners. Concerning the lower outcomes in runners - mainly ultramarathon runners, - the results are independent of their higher age because age-corrected values were used. A single study also evaluated the long-term HRV measures in different sports disciplines in low number of athletes and controls. While they found higher RMSSD, pNN50 and frequency domain HRV values in both groups of athletes compared to the controls, SDNN values elevated only in endurance athletes compared to controls. (173) In contrast, in our analyses we did not find any difference in SDNN values between different sports.

### **5.2.3.** Clinical Perspectives

As we only have normal values for short-term HRV in both children and adults, and there are no data on standard HRV values in athletes, we also determined the normal athletic HRV time domain values suitable for referencing HRV results in individual athletes. Decreased HRV may draw attention to an underlying CV abnormality, therefore using our normal values, HRV analysis can be powerful components of risk stratification of athletes in the future. We believe our results together with further research will facilitate the adequate use of HRV measurements in selecting athletes for competition, monitoring and optimizing training, and spotting over-training as well as in potentially identifying athletes at risk for malignant arrhythmias in the future.

### 5.2.4. Limitations

Long-term Holter recording especially in top athletes undergoing daily trainings did not allow us to prohibit physical exercise; therefore, part of the studied athlete group trained 1–2 hour during monitoring. Transient increase of sympathetic tone and the decrease of parasympathetic tone during physical activity as well as the opposite changes during recovery could affect our results although the above described changes of HRV could also be observed in athletes not training during Holter monitoring. Another potential limitation of the study is that athletes were not studied at the same phase of training some were in competitive phase, others in base training phase, or even in off-season, and we did not have complete data on the amount and the intensity of actual training for every athlete. Moreover, we did not have many master athletes in their mid-50s or older or who have been intensely training for more than 30 years. Thus, we cannot exclude the possibility that the decrease of HRV may eventually start to occur at a certain age. A final limitation is that this is a cross-sectional study, so what we call effect of age is not based on using the participant as his or her own control over time but is based on the analysis of athletes of different ages.

### **5.3.** Exercise Heart Rate Responses in Non-Athletes

HR is the basis of ECG, Holter ECG and exercise testing. On an exercise test, functional and HR parameters seem to be more important than evaluation of ST segments. Our exercise ECG study was designed to evaluate the gender differences in HR responses and to determine if a separate equation for predicting peak HR for women is justified. After first eliminating patients with CVD or taking drugs affecting HR, then eliminating those with comorbidities affecting peak HR, we show that most HR responses to exercise are significantly different in men versus women. Women have higher resting HR at all ages. HR reserve is higher in men at all ages, principally due to lower resting HR. HR recovery, however, is statistically significantly different between men and women only in the age group 50 - 59. Peak HR is significantly lower in younger women compared to men, but declines more slowly with age such that peak HR at ages 70-79 and 80-89 is not significantly different between men and women. While the HR response of men in our cohort was almost identical to the traditional 220 – age formula, a lower intercept (210 bpm) and slope (0.79 bpm/year) are required to predict peak HR in women. All exercise HR parameters have an inverse linear relationship to age in both men and women.

Risk factors such as diabetes, smoking, obesity, and poor exercise performance are associated with lower peak HR, perhaps secondary to less than maximal physiologic versus perceived effort. Respiratory distress, for example, may cause a smoker to stop exercising before cardiac output has reached its limit. We eliminated all these risk factors to get a pure cohort and determined that a separate formula for peak HR in women seems appropriate, because the traditional formula of 220 - age overestimates peak HR in younger women (age 40 - 50) and underestimates in elderly women (age 50 - 90).

### 5.3.1. Peak Heart Rate Prediction

HR responses to exercise have been studied for many years in various populations. All studies report a strong inverse relationship between peak HR and age. The traditional equation to predict peak HR (220 - age) for both men and women was established by Fox et al in a small cohort of 220 subjects, mostly men under age 55. (134) Subsequently, a meta-analysis on 18,712 subjects performed by Tanaka showed a different regression equation to predict peak HR, but the regression lines were not different for men and women (men: peak HR =  $209 - 0.73 \times age$ ; women: peak HR =  $208 - 0.77 \times age$ ). (139)
In Tanaka's meta-analysis, only healthy (defined by non-ischemic ECG response), nonmedicated, non-smoking subjects were involved, although we have no exact information about exclusions for CVD, diabetes and hypertension. Tanaka also performed a complementary laboratory study in a healthy population using non-medicated and nonsmoking adults without CAD to verify the maximal level of effort by VO<sub>2</sub> testing (using a respiratory exchange ratio  $\geq 1.15$  as indicative of maximal effort). The regression lines derived (men: peak HR = [210 - 0.72 x age] vs. women: peak HR = [207 - 0.65 x age]) were very similar to the meta-analysis findings, again without significant differences by sex. In Tanaka's two studies, men more so than the women show HR responses that differ from our data. Though we generally take the traditional formula for peak HR in men for granted, our confirmation that 220 – age is an appropriate formula for predicted peak HR in men is not an insignificant finding in the present study.

We have previously published findings from our laboratory (137) on exercise HR in a study that focused on exercise BP response in 7863 men and 2406 women without CVD or hypertension. That cohort was tested in an earlier time frame (1988-1992), and we did not restrict the cohort according to diabetes, smoking or poor test performance. Regression equations for peak HR were 213 - 0.90 x age for men and 203 - 0.76 x age for women with the lower intercepts observed versus the present study likely due to the less restricted nature of the earlier cohort.

An analysis of exercise tests in the St. James Women Take Heart Project performed by Gulati et al (135) proposed a women's formula for age-predicted peak HR = 206 - 0.88 x age. This was a volunteer cohort of 5,437 asymptomatic women but no men were tested identically for comparison. Women included were age 35 years or older, had no active CVD, and were able to walk on a treadmill at a moderate pace, but diabetics and smokers were not excluded.

### **5.3.2.** Clinical Importance

The present study is not only the largest clinical cohort analyzed to compare peak HR versus age in men and women; but also presents important normative data for other HR parameters including resting HR, HR reserve, and HR recovery. We also show the impact of selected risk factors in attenuating the peak exercise HR, potentially allowing us to reconcile differences in peak HR response among the various published studies.

Peak HR is one of the most commonly used parameters in clinical CV medicine, so correct determination is important. On one hand, peak HR can be used to determine the adequacy of exercise testing with a target of at least 85% of predicted maximal HR. (141) Using the wrong target HR for women may theoretically result in unnecessary repeat testing, though we project that < 1% of tests would be reclassified as adequate versus inadequate with most of those being in older women where traditional versus new predicted HR differences become progressively larger. From another perspective, poor HR response to exercise signals an adverse prognosis, so again an inappropriate target may result in incorrect interpretation in selected patients. (12,141,174-176) Estimated peak HR is also used to prescribe exercise intensity for various types of patients when no exercise test was performed. (177) Our study both confirms the use of the traditional 220 – age formula for men but also provides further evidence that a different formula should be utilized for women.

## 5.3.3. Limitations

This is a cross-sectional analysis with single tests from different individuals. A longitudinal study with regularly repeated tests on a fixed population of healthy individuals would be more appropriate for determining the true physiological effect of aging on exercise HR, but such a study would be much more difficult to conduct.

These exercise tests were conducted in a clinical environment in which patients were instructed to exercise to subjective fatigue. Patients were not specifically "pushed" to continue exercise until a definite plateau in HR was observed, nor did patients undergo repeat testing to be certain that a higher exercise HR could not be achieved on a second or third try. Gas exchange was not measured during exercise to confirm effort by respiratory exchange ratio.

We had a limited number of patients older than 80 years in our clinical cohort, and survival bias may have affected the HR responses of these older patients. Older individuals are also more likely to have orthopedic complaints that could represent a potential limitation of exercise HR. The differences that we have noted in peak HR between men and women are not nearly as high as the variation in peak HR at any given age (SD ~ 11-15 bpm depending on the age group). Thus, slightly adjusting the equation for predicting peak HR will not greatly improve the estimate of peak exercise HR for an

individual female patient. Rather, the male-female differences in HR response to exercise shown here may lead us to an additional understanding of sex differences in aging.

Younger patients were excluded from this study, because we felt there was a significant referral bias. Syncope, chronic fatigue, congenital cardiac disorders, tachyarrhythmias, morbid obesity, and screening for sports participation are among the common referral diagnoses in younger subjects. Thus we felt that their HR would significantly deviate from the regression line versus age derived in older patients. An analysis of the patients aged 20 - 39 in our database confirmed these suspicions. Both peak HR and its decline with age were less vigorous in this younger population (men: peak HR = 193 - 0.40 x age; women: peak HR = 196 - 0.61 x age).

This study was not designed to specifically determine why the HR responses are different by sex. It is unlikely that sex-differences in attitudes toward physical activity play a role, and the large number of women being tested obviates biases that test personnel might have against pushing women to high levels of effort. We might speculate that sex hormones are involved. High testosterone levels promote increased muscle mass in men at young ages, allowing then to push to higher exercise intensities and higher peak HRs during exercise compared to women, but declining testosterone levels gradually attenuate exercise intensity and HR in older men. Muscle mass and exercise performance may follow a less rapid decline in relatively testosterone-poor women. Further research of a more physiologic nature is obviously indicated.

# 5.4. Risk prediction on Exercise Test

We extended our research on special patient populations as smokers. We investigate the effect of CRF on comorbidities and mortality in never, past and current smokers. Past smokers had a significantly greater prevalence of obesity, hypertension, and diabetes compared to never smokers, while current smokers did not show an increased prevalence and risk of these comorbidities compared to never smokers but had much higher rates of poor CRF. Total, CV and cancer mortality was only slightly increased in past smokers versus never smokers; but mortality was much higher in current versus past smokers despite lower rates of weight-associated comorbidities. We assume that weight gain after quitting smoking was largely responsible for the increased rates of diabetes and hypertension seen in the past smokers. Higher mortality in current versus past smokers was obviously not related to obesity, diabetes, and hypertension, but low CRF was likely a factor.

# 5.4.1. Effect of Cardiorespiratory Fitness on Mortality

Better CRF showed protective effect in all smoking groups. Prior to this investigation, there has been no study which validated the effect of CRF in smoking on a large low risk population.

Besides our study there are only two papers which investigate the association between exercise, smoking habit and mortality. (148,178) O`Donovan et al included almost 100,000 patients; the amount of exercise was assessed by a questionnaire. According to their results a greater amount of exercise was associated with decreased total, CV and cancer mortality, while greater amount of smoking resulted in increased risks for mortality. In both current and past smokers, exercise accounted for an approximate 30% mortality reduction. Moore et al pooled data from six prospective cohort studies and found generally the same outcomes regarding total mortality. In our study, current smokers with poor CRF had 5.3 times higher all-cause mortality risk, 7.1 times CV and 4.8 times higher cancer mortality risk, while in past smokers these risks were 2.6, 4.4 and 2.5. These findings can likely be explained by the comprehensive protective effect of exercise.

Some studies have proposed a beneficial effect of CRF on mortality in smokers. According to survey data from Finland, in active smokers aged 40-60, the mortality risk was higher among those who were physically inactive or moderately active. (179) In our study we compared the mortality according to CRF within the smoking groups as well. Better CRF had a strong protective effect in all smoking groups. The mortality of fit past smokers was not significantly different compared to fit never smokers, which shows how powerful is the effect of quitting smoking in mortality.

It is well known that smoking is the leading cause of cancer death; however in smokers, the prognostic impact of exercise on cancer mortality has not been previously established. There is one large study published by Moore SC. et al which found that increasing levels of leisure-time physical activity were associated with lower risk of 13 of the 26 investigated cancer types in different populations including obese individuals and/or smokers. (180) There are some smaller studies which also investigated the effect of exercise and smoking on specific cancer types. Their data suggest that exercise and smoking cessation may prevent cancer progression and reduce cancer death. (181-183)

# 5.4.2. Clinical importance

The strengths of our study include a large consecutive cohort with complete mortality follow-up over a long time period. We also can stratify mortality according to CV and even cancer death. Exercise test data were robust and complete, and important data on comorbidities and pharmacotherapies were available. Our study reflected the limited racial diversity seen in Minnesota, so our results may not be applicable to more diverse racial or ethnic groups. Overall mortality was low, reflecting the status of Minnesota as a state with low total and CV mortality. We might speculate that the protective effect of CRF might be even more important in a higher risk population.

### **5.4.3.** Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First of all, it was a referral population. Because these patients were predominately Caucasian and from the state with the lowest CVD rates in the US, the study cohort likely was at lower CV risk than the general population. Exclusion of baseline CVD from this cohort further lowered risk. So, in a general

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2177

population, the differences by smoking status might be expected to be more dramatic than what we documented here.

Another potential limitation is that past smoking history was not quantified in terms of pack years, and the time since smoking cessation was not considered. Given the time course of smoking rates in the US, we think it is likely that many of the past smokers were not recent quitters. The significantly higher rates of obesity and obesity-related comorbidities support a longer period of non-smoking. Recent quitting and limited smoking history introduce negative rather than positive bias to the study findings by minimizing differences among the 3 smoking groups.

The possibility of secondary (passive) smoking was also not included in this study.

The stress tests were conducted in clinical circumstances, and patients were instructed to exercise to subjective fatigue. Gas exchange was not measured to confirm the level of metabolic effort by respiratory exchange ratio. We are using CRF at a single time point. The exercise test may thus reflect recent, rather than lifetime physical activity patterns, though it is clear from survey data that low levels of physical activity in the US have been persistent over many years. It is unlikely that a significant portion of the poor CRF in any of the groups is predominately due to recent changes in behavior.

# 6. Conclusions

According to our results, the athletes' ECG data showed a significant physiological electrical and structural adaptation but in some cases potentially pathological abnormalities may be revealed. In our study of a composite sample of asymptomatic Hungarian athletes, we have found no underlying structural heart disease either in individuals with ECG abnormalities. However, with a thorough evaluation of ECG, we could recognize athletes as being at a potentially higher risk, therefore we suggest regular CV follow-up. Our study is a representative sample of Hungarian athletic ECG changes, therefore we believe that an exact definition and widespread knowledge of athletic ECG is essential in early recognition of high risk athletes.

Athletic adaptation can also be investigated with long-term ECG recording. On a routine Holter ECG recording we can get important information about the status of the autonomic nervous system. In athletes, long-term time-domain parameters of HRV were proved to be higher compared to controls. This indicates that autonomic adaptation is a part of athletic adaptation reflecting a dominant parasympathetic tone. Moreover, these parameters vary according to sports modality referring to the role of autonomic system in the sport-specific adaptation of the heart. According to our findings, autonomic adaptation of athletes is permanent, because the elevated HRV values remain unchanged in masters athletes. As we have determined normal athletic values, therefore using our lower cut off values may also detect athletes at high CV risk based on decreased autonomic adaptation.

ECG recording during exercise testing is another important method of risk assessment. In our studies we focused on the prognostic parameters from the exercise test, and we have also identified the clinical factors which modify these prognostic parameters. HR responses to exercise are age and sex related. Women have higher resting HR rate, lower HR reserve and lower peak HR compared to men. Observing these sex differences brought up the idea that predicted equation in women may have to be different. In our large cohort, after eliminating factors negatively affecting peak HR, the equation predicting peak HR in men was nearly identical to the traditional formula but peak HR in women had a lower intercept and decreased more slowly with age. A separate formula for peak HR in women seems to be appropriate. Exercise HR responses are different in many pathological conditions. In our research we have focused on the effects of smoking. Although past smokers showed higher rates of comorbidities (obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and low CRF), their mortality was only mildly increased compared to never smokers. Current smoking, however, carried a high mortality risk despite lack on an increase in CV comorbidites versus never smokers. These data suggest that quitting smoking is beneficial despite increased comorbidities. Exercise may potentially mitigate the risk of both comorbidities and death in those who quit smoking. Overall, we can conclude that exercise testing is an important diagnostic method and it has potential important prognostic value to detect patients at high risk.

#### SUMMARY

Electrocardiography (ECG) is an essential tool for diagnosis and management of athletes and patients with cardiovascular (CV) diseases. Although imaging now dominates the practice of cardiology, with detailed evaluation of different ECG techniques, we can increase the diagnostic power of this simple, low cost method.

The purpose of our studies was to emphasize the importance of ECG in athletic screening, to show the additional diagnostic potential of long-term ECG recording in athletes, to present the predictive value of non-ECG prognostic factors on the exercise test in an adult referral population and to define the role of functional aerobic capacity (FAC) and heart rate (HR) responses in predicting risk according to smoking status.

We highlight the prevalence of physiological ECG changes and potentially pathological ECG abnormalities in a representative sample of Hungarian athletes versus controls. Although we have not found any underlying structural heart diseases in athletes with training-unrelated ECG changes, their regular follow-up is necessary, therefore widespread knowledge of ECG is essential in early recognition of high risk athletes. Athletic adaptation can also be investigated with Holter ECG recording, which provides important information about autonomic regulation with heart rate variability (HRV). Time-domain parameters of HRV are higher in athletes compared to controls, and vary according to sports modality and intensity. Our lower cut off values may detect athletes at high CV risk based on decreased autonomic adaptation.

In our exercise testing studies we focus on prognostic parameters and their affecting factors on a large cohort of non-athletes. HR responses to exercise are age and sex related, with women having higher resting HR rate, lower HR reserve and lower peak HR compared to men. After eliminating factors negatively affecting peak HR, the equation predicting peak HR in men is nearly identical to the traditional formula, but in women this has a lower intercept and it decreases more slowly with age. Exercise HR responses are different in many pathological conditions such as smoking. Although past smokers show higher rates of comorbidities, their mortality is only mildly increased compared to never smokers. Our data suggest that quitting smoking is beneficial despite increased comorbidities. Exercise may mitigate the risk after quitting smoking. Exercise testing is an important diagnostic method, but it has potential important prognostic value to detect patients at high risk.

## ÖSSZEFOGLALÁS

Az elektrocardiographia nélkülözhetetlen a sportolók és szívbetegek kivizsgálásában és irányításában. Bár napjainkban a képalkotó vizsgálatok dominálnak a kardiológiai gyakorlatban, a különböző EKG technikák részletes elemzésével növelhetjük ezen egyszerű és olcsó vizsgálat diagnosztikus potenciálját.

Vizsgálataink célja az EKG jelentőségének hangsúlyozása a sportolói szűrésben, a hosszú távú EKG monitorozás jelentőségének bemutatása sportolóknál, a prognosztikus paraméterek prediktív értékének vizsgálata terheléses vizsgálaton átesett betegeknél, valamint a terhelési kapacitás és terheléses szívfrekvencia válaszok prediktív szerepének meghatározása dohányzási státusz szerint.

Vizsgáltuk a fiziológiás EKG eltérések és a potenciálisan patológiás EKG elváltozások előfordulási gyakoriságát magyar sportolók reprezentatív mintáján kontrollcsoporthoz képest. Bár a sportterheléstől független EKG eltérések hátterében strukturális szívbetegség nem igazolódott, rendszeres utánkövetésük szükséges, ezért a sportolói EKG eltérések széleskörű ismerete nélkülözhetetlen a magas rizikójú sportolók korai felismerésében. A sportadaptáció vizsgálható Holter EKG-val is, mely szívfrekvencia variabilitás vizsgálatokkal (HRV) értékes információkkal szolgálhat az autonóm szabályozás állapotáról. A HRV idő paraméterei magasabbak sportolókban kontrollokhoz képest; sporttípus és intenzitás szerint változnak. Az általunk meghatározott alsó cut off értékek segítségével felismerhetőek a csökkent autonóm adaptációval rendelkező magasabb kockázatú sportolók.

Terheléses vizsgálatainkban a prognosztikus paraméterekre koncentrálva vizsgáltuk a befolyásoló faktorok szerepét nem-sportolóknál. A terheléses szívfrekvencia válaszok nem és életkor függők, a nők nyugalmi frekvenciája magasabb, frekvencia rezervje és maximális frekvenciája alacsonyabb. A befolyásoló faktorok eltávolítását követően az életkornak megfelelő maximális frekvencia számítása férfiaknál nagyjából megegyezik a hagyományos képlettel, nőknél azonban alacsonyabb és kevésbé csökken az életkorral. A terheléses frekvencia válaszok kórosak pathológiás állapotokban, például dohányzásnál. Bár a volt dohányosoknál a társbetegségek gyakoribbak, mortalitásuk kevésbé emelkedett a nem dohányzókéhoz képest. A sport csökkentheti a dohányzás okozta emelkedett rizikót. A terheléses vizsgálat egy fontos diagnosztikus módszer, valamint prognosztikus értéke miatt alkalmas a magas rizikójú betegeket kiszűrésére.

# References

1. Napolitano C, Priori SG. (2014) [Role of standard resting ECG in the assessment of sudden cardiac death risk]. G Ital Cardiol (Rome), 15: 670-677.

2. Maron BJ, Pelliccia A. (2006) The heart of trained athletes: cardiac remodeling and the risks of sports, including sudden death. Circulation, 114: 1633-1644.

3. Pavlik G, Major Z, Varga-Pinter B, Jeserich M, Kneffel Z. (2010) The athlete's heart Part I (Review). Acta Physiol Hung, 97: 337-353.

4. Pluim BM, Zwinderman AH, van der Laarse A, van der Wall EE. (2000) The athlete's heart. A meta-analysis of cardiac structure and function. Circulation, 101: 336-344.

5. Weinstock J, Estes NA, 3rd. (2013) The heart of an athlete: black, white, and shades of grey with no gold standard. Circulation, 127: 1757-1759.

6. É. M. (2005) Sportorvosi szemle. . Országos Sportegészségügyi Intézet (OSEI) és a Magyar Sportorvos Társaság.

7. Kollégium SS. (2008) Az Egészségügyi Minisztérium szakmai protokollja a sportorvosi alkalmassági- és szűrővizsgálatokról Egészségügyi Közlöny.

8. Bacharova L, Michalak K, Kyselovic J, Klimas J. (2005) Relation between QRS amplitude and left ventricular mass in the initial stage of exercise-induced left ventricular hypertrophy in rats. Clin Exp Hypertens, 27: 533-541.

9. (1996) Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Circulation, 93: 1043-1065.

10. Nishime EO, Cole CR, Blackstone EH, Pashkow FJ, Lauer MS. (2000) Heart rate recovery and treadmill exercise score as predictors of mortality in patients referred for exercise ECG. Jama, 284: 1392-1398.

11. Sydo N, Sydo T, Merkely B, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2016) Impaired Heart Rate Response to Exercise in Diabetes and Its Long-term Significance. Mayo Clin Proc, 91: 157-165.

12. Lauer MS, Okin PM, Larson MG, Evans JC, Levy D. (1996) Impaired heart rate response to graded exercise. Prognostic implications of chronotropic incompetence in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation, 93: 1520-1526.

13. Carter BD, Abnet CC, Feskanich D, Freedman ND, Hartge P, Lewis CE, Ockene JK, Prentice RL, Speizer FE, Thun MJ, Jacobs EJ. (2015) Smoking and mortality--beyond established causes. N Engl J Med, 372: 631-640.

14. Pan A, Wang Y, Talaei M, Hu FB. (2015) Relation of Smoking With Total Mortality and Cardiovascular Events Among Patients With Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Circulation, 132: 1795-1804.

15. Mesquita R, Goncalves CG, Hayashi D, Costa Vde S, Teixeira Dde C, de Freitas ER, Felcar JM, Pitta F, Molari M, Probst VS. (2015) Smoking status and its relationship with exercise capacity, physical activity in daily life and quality of life in physically independent, elderly individuals. Physiotherapy, 101: 55-61.

16. Chrysohoou C, Skoumas J, Georgiopoulos G, Liontou C, Vogiatzi G, Tsioufis K, Lerakis S, Soulis D, Pitsavos C, Tousoulis D. (2017) Exercise capacity and haemodynamic response among 12,327 individuals with cardio-metabolic risk factors undergoing treadmill exercise. Eur J Prev Cardiol, 24: 1627-1636.

17. Bush T, Lovejoy JC, Deprey M, Carpenter KM. (2016) The effect of tobacco cessation on weight gain, obesity, and diabetes risk. Obesity (Silver Spring), 24: 1834-1841.

18. P. J. (1998) Sportorvoslás alapjai.

19. Á. V. (2003) A fizikális terhelés, mint prekondicionáló inger kardioprotektív hatása. . Cardiol Hung, 33: 187-195.

20. P J. (2008) Fizikai aktivitás szerepe a kardiovaszkuláris betegségek megelőzésében és kezelésében. Metabolizmus, 6: 24-28.

21. Pelliccia A, Maron BJ, De Luca R, Di Paolo FM, Spataro A, Culasso F. (2002) Remodeling of left ventricular hypertrophy in elite athletes after long-term deconditioning. Circulation, 105: 944-949.

22. Pelliccia A, Maron MS, Maron BJ. (2012) Assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy in a trained athlete: differential diagnosis of physiologic athlete's heart from pathologic hypertrophy. Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 54: 387-396.

23. Morganroth J, Maron BJ, Henry WL, Epstein SE. (1975) Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med, 82: 521-524.

24. Spence AL, Naylor LH, Carter HH, Buck CL, Dembo L, Murray CP, Watson P, Oxborough D, George KP, Green DJ. (2011) A prospective randomised longitudinal MRI study of left ventricular adaptation to endurance and resistance exercise training in humans. J Physiol, 589: 5443-5452.

25. Weiner RB, Baggish AL. (2012) Exercise-induced cardiac remodeling. Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 54: 380-386.

26. Pelliccia A, Zipes DP, Maron BJ. (2008) Bethesda Conference #36 and the European Society of Cardiology Consensus Recommendations revisited a comparison of U.S. and European criteria for eligibility and disqualification of competitive athletes with cardiovascular abnormalities. J Am Coll Cardiol, 52: 1990-1996.

27. Mitchell JH, Haskell W, Snell P, Van Camp SP. (2005) Task Force 8: classification of sports. J Am Coll Cardiol, 45: 1364-1367.

28. Levine BD, Baggish AL, Kovacs RJ, Link MS, Maron MS, Mitchell JH. (2015) Eligibility and Disqualification Recommendations for Competitive Athletes With Cardiovascular Abnormalities: Task Force 1: Classification of Sports: Dynamic, Static, and Impact: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology. Circulation, 132: e262-266.

29. É M. Sportélettan. In: P J, ed. *Sportorvoslás alapjai* Sárbogárd: Print City; 1998, p 31-78.

30. Z S. Sportkardiológia. In: P J, ed. *Sportorvoslás alapjai* Sárbogárd: Print City; 1998, p 267-287.

31. Ostman-Smith I, Wisten A, Nylander E, Bratt EL, Granelli A, Oulhaj A, Ljungstrom E. (2010) Electrocardiographic amplitudes: a new risk factor for sudden death in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J, 31: 439-449.

32. Astrand PO RK, Dah HA. *Textbook of work physiology 4th ed*. Champagne IL (USA): Human Kinetics; 2003. p. 143.

33. Wu W RM. Sudden cardiac death in athletes. In: Runge MS SG, Patterson C, ed. *Netter's Cardiology*. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2010.

Rawlins J, Bhan A, Sharma S. (2009) Left ventricular hypertrophy in athletes. Eur J Echocardiogr, 10: 350-356.

35. Rost R. (1997) The athlete's heart. Historical perspectives--solved and unsolved problems. Cardiol Clin, 15: 493-512.

36. Stroumpoulis KI, Pantazopoulos IN, Xanthos TT. (2010) Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and sudden cardiac death. World J Cardiol, 2: 289-298.

37. Pelliccia A, Culasso F, Di Paolo FM, Maron BJ. (1999) Physiologic left ventricular cavity dilatation in elite athletes. Ann Intern Med, 130: 23-31.

38. von Borell E, Langbein J, Despres G, Hansen S, Leterrier C, Marchant-Forde J, Marchant-Forde R, Minero M, Mohr E, Prunier A, Valance D, Veissier I. (2007) Heart rate variability as a measure of autonomic regulation of cardiac activity for assessing stress and welfare in farm animals -- a review. Physiol Behav, 92: 293-316.

39. Tulppo MP, Kiviniemi AM, Hautala AJ, Kallio M, Seppanen T, Tiinanen S, Makikallio TH, Huikuri HV. (2011) Sympatho-vagal interaction in the recovery phase of exercise. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging, 31: 272-281.

40. Billman GE. (2009) Cardiac autonomic neural remodeling and susceptibility to sudden cardiac death: effect of endurance exercise training. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 297: H1171-1193.

41. Ieda M, Kimura K, Kanazawa H, Fukuda K. (2008) Regulation of cardiac nerves: a new paradigm in the management of sudden cardiac death? Curr Med Chem, 15: 1731-1736.

42. Tulppo MP, Makikallio TH, Seppanen T, Laukkanen RT, Huikuri HV. (1998) Vagal modulation of heart rate during exercise: effects of age and physical fitness. Am J Physiol, 274: H424-429.

43. McAreavey D, Neilson JM, Ewing DJ, Russell DC. (1989) Cardiac parasympathetic activity during the early hours of acute myocardial infarction. Br Heart J, 62: 165-170.

44. Osculati G, Grassi G, Giannattasio C, Seravalle G, Valagussa F, Zanchetti A, Mancia G. (1990) Early alterations of the baroreceptor control of heart rate in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circulation, 81: 939-948.

45. Lown B, Verrier RL. (1976) Neural activity and ventricular fibrillation. N Engl J Med, 294: 1165-1170.

46. Link MS, Mark Estes NA, 3rd. (2008) Sudden cardiac death in athletes. Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 51: 44-57.

 Schmied C, Borjesson M. (2014) Sudden cardiac death in athletes. J Intern Med, 275: 93-103.

48. Borjesson M, Pelliccia A. (2009) Incidence and aetiology of sudden cardiac death in young athletes: an international perspective. Br J Sports Med, 43: 644-648.

49. Chandra N, Bastiaenen R, Papadakis M, Sharma S. (2013) Sudden cardiac death in young athletes: practical challenges and diagnostic dilemmas. J Am Coll Cardiol, 61: 1027-1040.

50. Maron BJ, Gohman TE, Aeppli D. (1998) Prevalence of sudden cardiac death during competitive sports activities in Minnesota high school athletes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 32: 1881-1884.

51. Corrado D, Basso C, Rizzoli G, Schiavon M, Thiene G. (2003) Does sports activity enhance the risk of sudden death in adolescents and young adults? J Am Coll Cardiol, 42: 1959-1963.

52. Maron BJ, Shirani J, Poliac LC, Mathenge R, Roberts WC, Mueller FO. (1996) Sudden death in young competitive athletes. Clinical, demographic, and pathological profiles. Jama, 276: 199-204.

53. Varro A, Baczko I. (2010) Possible mechanisms of sudden cardiac death in top athletes: a basic cardiac electrophysiological point of view. Pflugers Arch, 460: 31-40.

54. Van Camp SP, Bloor CM, Mueller FO, Cantu RC, Olson HG. (1995) Nontraumatic sports death in high school and college athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 27: 641-647.

55. Maron BJ, Poliac LC, Roberts WO. (1996) Risk for sudden cardiac death associated with marathon running. J Am Coll Cardiol, 28: 428-431.

56. Thompson PD, Funk EJ, Carleton RA, Sturner WQ. (1982) Incidence of death during jogging in Rhode Island from 1975 through 1980. Jama, 247: 2535-2538.

57. Spooner PM, Albert C, Benjamin EJ, Boineau R, Elston RC, George AL, Jr., Jouven X, Kuller LH, MacCluer JW, Marban E, Muller JE, Schwartz PJ, Siscovick DS, Tracy RP, Zareba W, Zipes DP. (2001) Sudden cardiac death, genes, and arrhythmogenesis: consideration of new population and mechanistic approaches from a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute workshop, Part II. Circulation, 103: 2447-2452. 58. Spooner PM, Albert C, Benjamin EJ, Boineau R, Elston RC, George AL, Jr., Jouven X, Kuller LH, MacCluer JW, Marban E, Muller JE, Schwartz PJ, Siscovick DS,

Tracy RP, Zareba W, Zipes DP. (2001) Sudden cardiac death, genes, and arrhythmogenesis : consideration of new population and mechanistic approaches from a national heart, lung, and blood institute workshop, part I. Circulation, 103: 2361-2364.

59. Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE. (1980) Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation, 62: 218-229.

60. Burke AP, Farb A, Virmani R, Goodin J, Smialek JE. (1991) Sports-related and non-sports-related sudden cardiac death in young adults. Am Heart J, 121: 568-575.

61. Pelliccia A, Maron BJ, Culasso F, Spataro A, Caselli G. (1996) Athlete's heart in women. Echocardiographic characterization of highly trained elite female athletes. Jama, 276: 211-215.

62. Róka A. PI, Czuriga I, Édes I, Merkely B. *Hirtelen szívhalál*. Budapest: Medicina Könyvkiadó Zrt.; 2010.

63. Harmon KG, Asif IM, Maleszewski JJ, Owens DS, Prutkin JM, Salerno JC, Zigman ML, Ellenbogen R, Rao AL, Ackerman MJ, Drezner JA. (2015) Incidence, Cause, and Comparative Frequency of Sudden Cardiac Death in National Collegiate Athletic Association Athletes: A Decade in Review. Circulation, 132: 10-19.

64. A V. (2009) Sportolók hirtelen szívhalála, ahogyan a kísérletes szívelektrofiziológus látja. LAM, 19: 105- 111.

65. (2007) Exercise and acute cardiovascular events: placing the risks into perspective. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 39: 886-897.

66. Maron BJ, Chaitman BR, Ackerman MJ, Bayes de Luna A, Corrado D, Crosson JE, Deal BJ, Driscoll DJ, Estes NA, 3rd, Araujo CG, Liang DH, Mitten MJ, Myerburg RJ, Pelliccia A, Thompson PD, Towbin JA, Van Camp SP. (2004) Recommendations for physical activity and recreational sports participation for young patients with genetic cardiovascular diseases. Circulation, 109: 2807-2816.

Maron BJ. (2003) Sudden death in young athletes. N Engl J Med, 349: 1064-1075.
Basso C, Thiene G, Corrado D, Buja G, Melacini P, Nava A. (2000) Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and sudden death in the young: pathologic evidence of myocardial ischemia. Hum Pathol, 31: 988-998.

69. Corrado D, Basso C, Thiene G, McKenna WJ, Davies MJ, Fontaliran F, Nava A, Silvestri F, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Wlodarska EK, Fontaine G, Camerini F. (1997)

Spectrum of clinicopathologic manifestations of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia: a multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 30: 1512-1520.

 Link MS, Ginsburg SH, Wang PJ, Kirchhoffer JB, Berul CI, Estes NA, 3rd, Paris YM. (1998) Commotio cordis: cardiovascular manifestations of a rare survivor. Chest, 114: 326-328.

71. Vago H, Toth A, Apor A, Maurovich-Horvat P, Toth M, Merkely B. (2010) Images in cardiovascular medicine. Cardiac contusion in a professional soccer player: visualization of acute and late pathological changes in the myocardium with magnetic resonance imaging. Circulation, 121: 2456-2461.

72. Burke AP, Farb A, Malcom GT, Liang Y, Smialek JE, Virmani R. (1999) Plaque rupture and sudden death related to exertion in men with coronary artery disease. Jama, 281: 921-926.

73. Kestin AS, Ellis PA, Barnard MR, Errichetti A, Rosner BA, Michelson AD.
(1993) Effect of strenuous exercise on platelet activation state and reactivity. Circulation, 88: 1502-1511.

74. Johnson JN, Ackerman MJ. (2012) Competitive sports participation in athletes with congenital long QT syndrome. Jama, 308: 764-765.

75. Zipes DP, Link MS, Ackerman MJ, Kovacs RJ, Myerburg RJ, Estes NA, 3rd. (2015) Eligibility and Disqualification Recommendations for Competitive Athletes With Cardiovascular Abnormalities: Task Force 9: Arrhythmias and Conduction Defects: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology. Circulation, 132: e315-325.

76. Maron BJ, Friedman RA, Kligfield P, Levine BD, Viskin S, Chaitman BR, Okin PM, Saul JP, Salberg L, Van Hare GF, Soliman EZ, Chen J, Matherne GP, Bolling SF, Mitten MJ, Caplan A, Balady GJ, Thompson PD. (2014) Assessment of the 12-lead ECG as a screening test for detection of cardiovascular disease in healthy general populations of young people (12-25 Years of Age): a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology. Circulation, 130: 1303-1334.

77. Maron BJ, Bodison SA, Wesley YE, Tucker E, Green KJ. (1987) Results of screening a large group of intercollegiate competitive athletes for cardiovascular disease. J Am Coll Cardiol, 10: 1214-1221.

78. Maron BJ, Thompson PD, Puffer JC, McGrew CA, Strong WB, Douglas PS, Clark LT, Mitten MJ, Crawford MH, Atkins DL, Driscoll DJ, Epstein AE. (1996) Cardiovascular preparticipation screening of competitive athletes. A statement for health professionals from the Sudden Death Committee (clinical cardiology) and Congenital Cardiac Defects Committee (cardiovascular disease in the young), American Heart Association. Circulation, 94: 850-856.

79. Maron BJ, Levine BD, Washington RL, Baggish AL, Kovacs RJ, Maron MS. (2015) Eligibility and Disqualification Recommendations for Competitive Athletes With Cardiovascular Abnormalities: Task Force 2: Preparticipation Screening for Cardiovascular Disease in Competitive Athletes: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology. Circulation, 132: e267-272.

80. Corrado D, Pelliccia A, Bjornstad HH, Vanhees L, Biffi A, Borjesson M, Panhuyzen-Goedkoop N, Deligiannis A, Solberg E, Dugmore D, Mellwig KP, Assanelli D, Delise P, van-Buuren F, Anastasakis A, Heidbuchel H, Hoffmann E, Fagard R, Priori SG, Basso C, Arbustini E, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, McKenna WJ, Thiene G. (2005) Cardiovascular pre-participation screening of young competitive athletes for prevention of sudden death: proposal for a common European protocol. Consensus Statement of the Study Group of Sport Cardiology of the Working Group of Cardiac Rehabilitation and Exercise Physiology and the Working Group of Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J, 26: 516-524.

81. Kollégium SS. (2005) Az Egészségügyi Minisztérium módszertani levele Sportolás közben fellépő hírtelen szívhalál megelőzésének lehetősége. Egészségügyi Közlöny.

82. Pavlik G, Major Z, Csajagi E, Jeserich M, Kneffel Z. (2013) The athlete's heart. Part II: influencing factors on the athlete's heart: types of sports and age (review). Acta Physiol Hung, 100: 1-27.

83. Asif IM, Rao AL, Drezner JA. (2013) Sudden cardiac death in young athletes: what is the role of screening? Curr Opin Cardiol, 28: 55-62.

84. Corrado D, Basso C, Schiavon M, Pelliccia A, Thiene G. (2008) Pre-participation screening of young competitive athletes for prevention of sudden cardiac death. J Am Coll Cardiol, 52: 1981-1989.

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2177

85. Maron BJ, Haas TS, Doerer JJ, Thompson PD, Hodges JS. (2009) Comparison of U.S. and Italian experiences with sudden cardiac deaths in young competitive athletes and implications for preparticipation screening strategies. Am J Cardiol, 104: 276-280.

86. Corrado D, McKenna WJ. (2007) Appropriate interpretation of the athlete's electrocardiogram saves lives as well as money. Eur Heart J, 28: 1920-1922.

87. Panhuyzen-Goedkoop NM, Verheugt FW. (2006) Sudden cardiac death due to hypertrophic cardiomyopathy can be reduced by pre-participation cardiovascular screening in young athletes. Eur Heart J, 27: 2152-2153.

88. Corrado D, Basso C, Schiavon M, Thiene G. (1998) Screening for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in young athletes. N Engl J Med, 339: 364-369.

89. Corrado D, Basso C, Pavei A, Michieli P, Schiavon M, Thiene G. (2006) Trends in sudden cardiovascular death in young competitive athletes after implementation of a preparticipation screening program. Jama, 296: 1593-1601.

90. Pelliccia A, Maron BJ. (1995) Preparticipation cardiovascular evaluation of the competitive athlete: perspectives from the 30-year Italian experience. Am J Cardiol, 75: 827-829.

91. Estes NA, 3rd, Link MS. (2012) Preparticipation athletic screening including an electrocardiogram: an unproven strategy for prevention of sudden cardiac death in the athlete. Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 54: 451-454.

92. Thompson PD. (2009) Preparticipation screening of competitive athletes: seeking simple solutions to a complex problem. Circulation, 119: 1072-1074.

93. Maron BJ. (2005) How should we screen competitive athletes for cardiovascular disease? Eur Heart J, 26: 428-430.

94. Wheeler MT, Heidenreich PA, Froelicher VF, Hlatky MA, Ashley EA. (2010) Cost-effectiveness of preparticipation screening for prevention of sudden cardiac death in young athletes. Ann Intern Med, 152: 276-286.

95. Baggish AL, Hutter AM, Jr., Wang F, Yared K, Weiner RB, Kupperman E, Picard MH, Wood MJ. (2010) Cardiovascular screening in college athletes with and without electrocardiography: A cross-sectional study. Ann Intern Med, 152: 269-275.

96. Corrado D, Pelliccia A, Heidbuchel H, Sharma S, Link M, Basso C, Biffi A, Buja G, Delise P, Gussac I, Anastasakis A, Borjesson M, Bjornstad HH, Carre F, Deligiannis A, Dugmore D, Fagard R, Hoogsteen J, Mellwig KP, Panhuyzen-Goedkoop N, Solberg

E, Vanhees L, Drezner J, Estes NA, 3rd, Iliceto S, Maron BJ, Peidro R, Schwartz PJ, Stein R, Thiene G, Zeppilli P, McKenna WJ. (2010) Recommendations for interpretation of 12-lead electrocardiogram in the athlete. Eur Heart J, 31: 243-259.

97. Drezner JA, Fischbach P, Froelicher V, Marek J, Pelliccia A, Prutkin JM, Schmied CM, Sharma S, Wilson MG, Ackerman MJ, Anderson J, Ashley E, Asplund CA, Baggish AL, Borjesson M, Cannon BC, Corrado D, DiFiori JP, Harmon KG, Heidbuchel H, Owens DS, Paul S, Salerno JC, Stein R, Vetter VL. (2013) Normal electrocardiographic findings: recognising physiological adaptations in athletes. Br J Sports Med, 47: 125-136.

98. Drezner JA, Ashley E, Baggish AL, Borjesson M, Corrado D, Owens DS, Patel A, Pelliccia A, Vetter VL, Ackerman MJ, Anderson J, Asplund CA, Cannon BC, DiFiori J, Fischbach P, Froelicher V, Harmon KG, Heidbuchel H, Marek J, Paul S, Prutkin JM, Salerno JC, Schmied CM, Sharma S, Stein R, Wilson M. (2013) Abnormal electrocardiographic findings in athletes: recognising changes suggestive of cardiomyopathy. Br J Sports Med, 47: 137-152.

99. Drezner JA. (2012) Standardised criteria for ECG interpretation in athletes: a practical tool. Br J Sports Med, 46 Suppl 1: i6-8.

100. Drezner JA, Ackerman MJ, Anderson J, Ashley E, Asplund CA, Baggish AL, Borjesson M, Cannon BC, Corrado D, DiFiori JP, Fischbach P, Froelicher V, Harmon KG, Heidbuchel H, Marek J, Owens DS, Paul S, Pelliccia A, Prutkin JM, Salerno JC, Schmied CM, Sharma S, Stein R, Vetter VL, Wilson MG. (2013) Electrocardiographic interpretation in athletes: the 'Seattle criteria'. Br J Sports Med, 47: 122-124.

101. Sheikh N, Papadakis M, Ghani S, Zaidi A, Gati S, Adami PE, Carre F, Schnell F, Wilson M, Avila P, McKenna W, Sharma S. (2014) Comparison of electrocardiographic criteria for the detection of cardiac abnormalities in elite black and white athletes. Circulation, 129: 1637-1649.

102. Brosnan M, La Gerche A, Kalman J, Lo W, Fallon K, MacIsaac A, Prior D. (2014) The Seattle Criteria increase the specificity of preparticipation ECG screening among elite athletes. Br J Sports Med, 48: 1144-1150.

103. Dhutia H, Malhotra A, Gabus V, Merghani A, Finocchiaro G, Millar L, Narain R, Papadakis M, Naci H, Tome M, Sharma S. (2016) Cost Implications of Using Different ECG Criteria for Screening Young Athletes in the United Kingdom. J Am Coll Cardiol, 68: 702-711.

104. Sharma S, Drezner JA, Baggish A, Papadakis M, Wilson MG, Prutkin JM, La Gerche A, Ackerman MJ, Borjesson M, Salerno JC, Asif IM, Owens DS, Chung EH, Emery MS, Froelicher VF, Heidbuchel H, Adamuz C, Asplund CA, Cohen G, Harmon KG, Marek JC, Molossi S, Niebauer J, Pelto HF, Perez MV, Riding NR, Saarel T, Schmied CM, Shipon DM, Stein R, Vetter VL, Pelliccia A, Corrado D. (2017) International recommendations for electrocardiographic interpretation in athletes. Eur Heart J.

105. Wu J, Stork TL, Perron AD, Brady WJ. (2006) The athlete's electrocardiogram. Am J Emerg Med, 24: 77-86.

106. Kane SF, Oriscello RG, Wenzel RB. (2005) Electrocardiographic findings in sports medicine: normal variants and the ones that should not be missed. Curr Sports Med Rep, 4: 68-75.

107. Haissaguerre M, Derval N, Sacher F, Jesel L, Deisenhofer I, de Roy L, Pasquie JL, Nogami A, Babuty D, Yli-Mayry S, De Chillou C, Scanu P, Mabo P, Matsuo S, Probst V, Le Scouarnec S, Defaye P, Schlaepfer J, Rostock T, Lacroix D, Lamaison D, Lavergne T, Aizawa Y, Englund A, Anselme F, O'Neill M, Hocini M, Lim KT, Knecht S, Veenhuyzen GD, Bordachar P, Chauvin M, Jais P, Coureau G, Chene G, Klein GJ, Clementy J. (2008) Sudden cardiac arrest associated with early repolarization. N Engl J Med, 358: 2016-2023.

108. Cappato R, Furlanello F, Giovinazzo V, Infusino T, Lupo P, Pittalis M, Foresti S, De Ambroggi G, Ali H, Bianco E, Riccamboni R, Butera G, Ricci C, Ranucci M, Pelliccia A, De Ambroggi L. (2010) J wave, QRS slurring, and ST elevation in athletes with cardiac arrest in the absence of heart disease: marker of risk or innocent bystander? Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol, 3: 305-311.

109. Akselrod S, Gordon D, Ubel FA, Shannon DC, Berger AC, Cohen RJ. (1981) Power spectrum analysis of heart rate fluctuation: a quantitative probe of beat-to-beat cardiovascular control. Science, 213: 220-222.

110. Papaioannou VE. (2007) Heart rate variability, baroreflex function and heart rate turbulence: possible origin and implications. Hellenic J Cardiol, 48: 278-289.

111. Cygankiewicz I, Zareba W, de Luna AB. (2008) Prognostic value of Holter monitoring in congestive heart failure. Cardiol J, 15: 313-323.

112. Coviello I, Pinnacchio G, Laurito M, Stazi A, Battipaglia I, Barone L, Mollo R, Russo G, Villano A, Sestito A, Lanza GA, Crea F. (2013) Prognostic role of heart rate variability in patients with ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction treated by primary angioplasty. Cardiology, 124: 63-70.

113. Shah SA, Kambur T, Chan C, Herrington DM, Liu K, Shah SJ. (2013) Relation of short-term heart rate variability to incident heart failure (from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). Am J Cardiol, 112: 533-540.

114. Baumert M, Brechtel L, Lock J, Hermsdorf M, Wolff R, Baier V, Voss A. (2006) Heart rate variability, blood pressure variability, and baroreflex sensitivity in overtrained athletes. Clin J Sport Med, 16: 412-417.

115. Apor P, Petrekanich M, Szamado J. (2009) [Heart rate variability analysis in sports]. Orv Hetil, 150: 847-853.

116. Kleiger RE, Miller JP, Bigger JT, Jr., Moss AJ. (1987) Decreased heart rate variability and its association with increased mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol, 59: 256-262.

117. Malik M, Farrell T, Cripps T, Camm AJ. (1989) Heart rate variability in relation to prognosis after myocardial infarction: selection of optimal processing techniques. Eur Heart J, 10: 1060-1074.

118. Bigger JT, Jr., Fleiss JL, Steinman RC, Rolnitzky LM, Kleiger RE, Rottman JN. (1992) Frequency domain measures of heart period variability and mortality after myocardial infarction. Circulation, 85: 164-171.

119. Hottenrott K, Hoos O, Esperer HD. (2006) [Heart rate variability and physical exercise. Current status]. Herz, 31: 544-552.

120. Routledge FS, Campbell TS, McFetridge-Durdle JA, Bacon SL. (2010) Improvements in heart rate variability with exercise therapy. Can J Cardiol, 26: 303-312.

121. Murad K, Brubaker PH, Fitzgerald DM, Morgan TM, Goff DC, Jr., Soliman EZ, Eggebeen JD, Kitzman DW. (2012) Exercise training improves heart rate variability in older patients with heart failure: a randomized, controlled, single-blinded trial. Congest Heart Fail, 18: 192-197.

122. Grant CC, Janse van Rensburg DC. (2013) The contribution of preintervention blood pressure, VO2max, BMI, autonomic function and gender to exercise-induced changes in heart rate variability. Br J Sports Med, 47: 575-578.

123. Prinsloo GE, Rauch HG, Derman WE. (2014) A brief review and clinical application of heart rate variability biofeedback in sports, exercise, and rehabilitation medicine. Phys Sportsmed, 42: 88-99.

124. Abad CC, do Nascimento AM, Gil S, Kobal R, Loturco I, Nakamura FY, Mostarda CT, Irigoyen MC. (2014) Cardiac autonomic control in high level Brazilian power and endurance track-and-field athletes. Int J Sports Med, 35: 772-778.

125. Azevedo LF, Perlingeiro PS, Hachul DT, Gomes-Santos IL, Brum PC, Allison TG, Negrao CE, De Matos LD. (2014) Sport Modality Affects Bradycardia Level and Its Mechanisms of Control in Professional Athletes. Int J Sports Med.

126. Earnest CP, Jurca R, Church TS, Chicharro JL, Hoyos J, Lucia A. (2004) Relation between physical exertion and heart rate variability characteristics in professional cyclists during the Tour of Spain. Br J Sports Med, 38: 568-575.

127. Oliveira RS, Leicht AS, Bishop D, Barbero-Alvarez JC, Nakamura FY. (2013) Seasonal changes in physical performance and heart rate variability in high level futsal players. Int J Sports Med, 34: 424-430.

128. Botek M, McKune AJ, Krejci J, Stejskal P, Gaba A. (2014) Change in performance in response to training load adjustment based on autonomic activity. Int J Sports Med, 35: 482-488.

129. Saboul D, Pialoux V, Hautier C. (2013) The impact of breathing on HRV measurements: implications for the longitudinal follow-up of athletes. Eur J Sport Sci, 13: 534-542.

130. Flatt AA, Esco MR. (2016) Evaluating Individual Training Adaptation With Smartphone-Derived Heart Rate Variability in a Collegiate Female Soccer Team. J Strength Cond Res, 30: 378-385.

 Abaji JP, Curnier D, Moore RD, Ellemberg D. (2016) Persisting Effects of Concussion on Heart Rate Variability during Physical Exertion. J Neurotrauma, 33: 811-817.

132. Melo RC, Quiterio RJ, Takahashi AC, Silva E, Martins LE, Catai AM. (2008) High eccentric strength training reduces heart rate variability in healthy older men. Br J Sports Med, 42: 59-63. 133. da Silva VP, de Oliveira NA, Silveira H, Mello RG, Deslandes AC. (2015) Heart rate variability indexes as a marker of chronic adaptation in athletes: a systematic review. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol, 20: 108-118.

134. Fox SM, 3rd, Naughton JP, Haskell WL. (1971) Physical activity and the prevention of coronary heart disease. Ann Clin Res, 3: 404-432.

135. Gulati M, Shaw LJ, Thisted RA, Black HR, Bairey Merz CN, Arnsdorf MF. (2010) Heart rate response to exercise stress testing in asymptomatic women: the st. James women take heart project. Circulation, 122: 130-137.

136. Sheffield LT, Maloof JA, Sawyer JA, Roitman D. (1978) Maximal heart rate and treadmill performance of healthy women in relation to age. Circulation, 57: 79-84.

137. Daida H, Allison TG, Squires RW, Miller TD, Gau GT. (1996) Peak exercise blood pressure stratified by age and gender in apparently healthy subjects. Mayo Clin Proc, 71: 445-452.

138. Nes BM, Janszky I, Wisloff U, Stoylen A, Karlsen T. (2013) Age-predicted maximal heart rate in healthy subjects: The HUNT fitness study. Scand J Med Sci Sports, 23: 697-704.

139. Tanaka H, Monahan KD, Seals DR. (2001) Age-predicted maximal heart rate revisited. J Am Coll Cardiol, 37: 153-156.

140. Brubaker PH, Kitzman DW. (2011) Chronotropic incompetence: causes, consequences, and management. Circulation, 123: 1010-1020.

141. Lauer MS, Francis GS, Okin PM, Pashkow FJ, Snader CE, Marwick TH. (1999) Impaired chronotropic response to exercise stress testing as a predictor of mortality. Jama, 281: 524-529.

142. Hussain N, Gersh BJ, Gonzalez Carta K, Sydo N, Lopez-Jimenez F, Kopecky SL, Thomas RJ, Asirvatham SJ, Allison TG. (2018) Impact of Cardiorespiratory Fitness on Frequency of Atrial Fibrillation, Stroke, and All-Cause Mortality. Am J Cardiol, 121: 41-49.

143. National Center for Chronic Disease P, Health Promotion Office on S, Health. Reports of the Surgeon General. In. *The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); 2014. 144. Froom P, Kristal-Boneh E, Melamed S, Gofer D, Benbassat J, Ribak J. (1999) Smoking cessation and body mass index of occupationally active men: the Israeli CORDIS Study. Am J Public Health, 89: 718-722.

145. Harris KK, Zopey M, Friedman TC. (2016) Metabolic effects of smoking cessation. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 12: 299-308.

146. Facchini FS, Hollenbeck CB, Jeppesen J, Chen YD, Reaven GM. (1992) Insulin resistance and cigarette smoking. Lancet, 339: 1128-1130.

147. Lee CD, Blair SN. (2002) Cardiorespiratory fitness and smoking-related and total cancer mortality in men. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 34: 735-739.

148. O'Donovan G, Hamer M, Stamatakis E. (2017) Relationships between exercise, smoking habit and mortality in more than 100,000 adults. Int J Cancer, 140: 1819-1827.

149. Kiss O, Sydo N, Vargha P, Edes E, Merkely G, Sydo T, Merkely B. (2015) Prevalence of physiological and pathological electrocardiographic findings in Hungarian athletes. Acta Physiol Hung, 102: 228-237.

150. Kiss O, Sydo N, Vargha P, Vago H, Czimbalmos C, Edes E, Zima E, Apponyi G, Merkely G, Sydo T, Becker D, Allison TG, Merkely B. (2016) Detailed heart rate variability analysis in athletes. Clin Auton Res, 26: 245-252.

151. Sydo N, Abdelmoneim SS, Mulvagh SL, Merkely B, Gulati M, Allison TG.(2014) Relationship between exercise heart rate and age in men vs women. Mayo Clin Proc, 89: 1664-1672.

152. (2009) State-specific secondhand smoke exposure and current cigarette smoking among adults - United States, 2008. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 58: 1232-1235.

153. (2005) Access to Health Records. . Minnesota Statute, §144335.

154. Gibbons RJ, Balady GJ, Beasley JW, Bricker JT, Duvernoy WF, Froelicher VF, Mark DB, Marwick TH, McCallister BD, Thompson PD, Jr., Winters WL, Yanowitz FG, Ritchie JL, Gibbons RJ, Cheitlin MD, Eagle KA, Gardner TJ, Garson A, Jr., Lewis RP, O'Rourke RA, Ryan TJ. (1997) ACC/AHA Guidelines for Exercise Testing. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on Exercise Testing). J Am Coll Cardiol, 30: 260-311.

155. Gibbons RJ, Balady GJ, Bricker JT, Chaitman BR, Fletcher GF, Froelicher VF, Mark DB, McCallister BD, Mooss AN, O'Reilly MG, Winters WL, Gibbons RJ, Antman EM, Alpert JS, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gregoratos G, Hiratzka LF, Jacobs AK, Russell RO,

Smith SC. (2002) ACC/AHA 2002 guideline update for exercise testing: summary article. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1997 Exercise Testing Guidelines). J Am Coll Cardiol, 40: 1531-1540.

156. Umetani K, Singer DH, McCraty R, Atkinson M. (1998) Twenty-four hour time domain heart rate variability and heart rate: relations to age and gender over nine decades. J Am Coll Cardiol, 31: 593-601.

157. Borg G. (1970) Perceived exertion as an indicator of somatic stress. Scand J Rehabil Med, 2: 92-98.

158. Brosnan M, La Gerche A, Kalman J, Lo W, Fallon K, Macisaac A, Prior D. (2013) The Seattle Criteria increase the specificity of preparticipation ECG screening among elite athletes. Br J Sports Med.

159. Horvath P, Petrekanits M, Gyore I, Kneffel Z, Varga-Pinter B, Pavlik G. (2009) Echocardiographic and spiroergometric data of elite Hungarian female water polo players. Acta Physiol Hung, 96: 449-457.

160. Boyett MR, D'Souza A, Zhang H, Morris GM, Dobrzynski H, Monfredi O. (2013) Viewpoint: is the resting bradycardia in athletes the result of remodeling of the sinoatrial node rather than high vagal tone? J Appl Physiol (1985), 114: 1351-1355.

161. Corrado D, Biffi A, Basso C, Pelliccia A, Thiene G. (2009) 12-lead ECG in the athlete: physiological versus pathological abnormalities. Br J Sports Med, 43: 669-676.

162. Kim JH, Noseworthy PA, McCarty D, Yared K, Weiner R, Wang F, Wood MJ, Hutter AM, Picard MH, Baggish AL. (2011) Significance of electrocardiographic right bundle branch block in trained athletes. Am J Cardiol, 107: 1083-1089.

163. Furlanello F, Bertoldi A, Dallago M, Galassi A, Fernando F, Biffi A, Mazzone P, Pappone C, Chierchia S. (1998) Atrial fibrillation in elite athletes. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, 9: S63-68.

164. Sheikh N, Papadakis M, Malhotra A, Millar L, Dhutia H, Merghani A, Narain R, Wilson M, McKenna W, Sharma S. (2014) 89 The electrocardiographic phenotype in athletes with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: implications for pre-participation cardiovascular evaluation using electrocardiography. Heart, 100 Suppl 3: A51.

165. Kovacs A, Apor A, Nagy A, Vago H, Toth A, Nagy AI, Kovats T, Sax B, Szeplaki G, Becker D, Merkely B. (2014) Left ventricular untwisting in athlete's heart: key role in early diastolic filling? Int J Sports Med, 35: 259-264.

166. Tanguturi VK, Noseworthy PA, Newton-Cheh C, Baggish AL. (2012) The electrocardiographic early repolarization pattern in athletes: normal variant or sudden death risk factor? Sports Med, 42: 359-366.

167. Bianco M, Bria S, Gianfelici A, Sanna N, Palmieri V, Zeppilli P. (2001) Does early repolarization in the athlete have analogies with the Brugada syndrome? Eur Heart J, 22: 504-510.

168. Papadakis M, Carre F, Kervio G, Rawlins J, Panoulas VF, Chandra N, Basavarajaiah S, Carby L, Fonseca T, Sharma S. (2011) The prevalence, distribution, and clinical outcomes of electrocardiographic repolarization patterns in male athletes of African/Afro-Caribbean origin. Eur Heart J, 32: 2304-2313.

169. Bayes de Luna A, Brugada J, Baranchuk A, Borggrefe M, Breithardt G, Goldwasser D, Lambiase P, Riera AP, Garcia-Niebla J, Pastore C, Oreto G, McKenna W, Zareba W, Brugada R, Brugada P. (2012) Current electrocardiographic criteria for diagnosis of Brugada pattern: a consensus report. J Electrocardiol, 45: 433-442.

170. Serra G, Baranchuk A, Bayes-De-Luna A, Brugada J, Goldwasser D, Capulzini L, Arazo D, Boraita A, Heras ME, Garcia-Niebla J, Elosua R, Brugada R, Brugada P. (2014) New electrocardiographic criteria to differentiate the Type-2 Brugada pattern from electrocardiogram of healthy athletes with r'-wave in leads V1/V2. Europace.

171. Aubert AE, Seps B, Beckers F. (2003) Heart rate variability in athletes. Sports Med, 33: 889-919.

172. Sotiriou P, Kouidi E, Samaras T, Deligiannis A. (2013) Linear and non-linear analysis of heart rate variability in master athletes and healthy middle-aged non-athletes. Med Eng Phys, 35: 1676-1681.

173. Sztajzel J, Jung M, Sievert K, Bayes De Luna A. (2008) Cardiac autonomic profile in different sports disciplines during all-day activity. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 48: 495-501.

174. Cheng YJ, Macera CA, Church TS, Blair SN. (2002) Heart rate reserve as a predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in men. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 34: 1873-1878.

175. Cole CR, Blackstone EH, Pashkow FJ, Snader CE, Lauer MS. (1999) Heart-rate recovery immediately after exercise as a predictor of mortality. N Engl J Med, 341: 1351-1357.

176. Jolly MA, Brennan DM, Cho L. (2011) Impact of exercise on heart rate recovery. Circulation, 124: 1520-1526.

177. *ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription*. 7th ed. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2006.

178. Moore SC, Patel AV, Matthews CE, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Park Y, Katki HA, Linet MS, Weiderpass E, Visvanathan K, Helzlsouer KJ, Thun M, Gapstur SM, Hartge P, Lee IM. (2012) Leisure time physical activity of moderate to vigorous intensity and mortality: a large pooled cohort analysis. PLoS Med, 9: e1001335.

179. Lallukka T, Lahti J, Lahelma E, Rahkonen O. (2016) The contribution of smoking to mortality during working age at different levels of leisure-time physical activity. Eur J Public Health.

180. Moore SC, Lee IM, Weiderpass E, Campbell PT, Sampson JN, Kitahara CM, Keadle SK, Arem H, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Hartge P, Adami HO, Blair CK, Borch KB, Boyd E, Check DP, Fournier A, Freedman ND, Gunter M, Johannson M, Khaw KT, Linet MS, Orsini N, Park Y, Riboli E, Robien K, Schairer C, Sesso H, Spriggs M, Van Dusen R, Wolk A, Matthews CE, Patel AV. (2016) Association of Leisure-Time Physical Activity With Risk of 26 Types of Cancer in 1.44 Million Adults. JAMA Intern Med, 176: 816-825.

181. Liss MA, White M, Natarajan L, Parsons JK. (2017) Exercise Decreases and Smoking Increases Bladder Cancer Mortality. Clin Genitourin Cancer, 15: 391-395.

182. Peisch SF, Van Blarigan EL, Chan JM, Stampfer MJ, Kenfield SA. (2017) Prostate cancer progression and mortality: a review of diet and lifestyle factors. World J Urol, 35: 867-874.

183. Schoenberg MH. (2016) Physical Activity and Nutrition in Primary and Tertiary Prevention of Colorectal Cancer. Visc Med, 32: 199-204.

# **Publications related to dissertation**

- Sydó N, Abdelmoneim SS, Mulvagh SL, Merkely B, Gulati M, Allison TG. (2014) Relationship between exercise heart rate and age in men versus women. Mayo Clin Proc, 89(12):1664-72.
   IF: 6.262
- Sydó N, Kiss O, Vargha P, Édes E, Merkely G, Sydó T, Merkely B. (2015) Prevalence of physiological and pathological electrocardiographic fndings in Hungarian athletes. Acta Physiol Hung, 102(2):228-37. Sydó N, Kiss O contributed equally to this work IF: 0.814
- Sydó N, Kiss O, Vargha P, Vágó H, Czimbalmos Cs, Édes E, Zima E, Apponyi Gy, Merkely G, Sydó T, Becker D, Allison TG, Merkely B. (2016) Detailed heart rate variablity analysis in athletes. Clin Auton Res, 26(4):245-252.
   Sydó N, Kiss O contributed equally to this work IF: 1.276
- Sydó N, Sydó T, Gonzalez Carta K, Hussain N, Farooq S, Murphy JG, Becker D, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2018) Effect of cardiorespiratory fitness on comorbidities and mortality in never, past and current smokers. Submitted to Am J Prev Med.
  Sydó N, Sydó T contributed equally to this work

IF: 5.590

# **Publications not related to dissertation**

- Sydó N, Sydó T, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2018) Exercise test and obesity paradox. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):1512.
- Merkely P, Nádasy Gy, Bakos M, Török M, Sydó N, Várbíró Sz, Radovits T, Merkely B, Ács N. (2018) Athletic arteries in a rat model. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):2102.
- 3. Lakatos B, Kiss O, Babity M, Bognár Cs, Bátorfi C, Szilágyi M, Sydó N, Kováts T, Kovács A, Merkely B. (2018) Relationship between left ventricular structural and functional parameters and peak exercise performance: a three-dimensional echocardiographic study in young athletes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):1477.
- 4. Érdi J, Sydó N, Sydó T, Merkely B, Randal T, Nkomo V, Allison TG. (2018) Prognostic significance of hear rate recovery in valvular heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):2021.
- Bonikowske A, Lopez-Jimenez F, Sydó N, Allison TG. (2018) Traditional CV risk factors versus fitness and stress test findings: which better predicts mortality? J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):1795.
- 6. Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Sydó N, Merkely P, Kiss O, Dohy Zs, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Merkely B, Hajnalka V. (2018) Diagnosis of arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy in athletes using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71(11):1479.
- 7. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Hussain N, Farooq S, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2018) Prognostic performance of heart rate recovery on an exercise test in a primary prevention population. J Am Hear Assoc. DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.117.008143
  IF: 4.425 (2016)

- 8. Hussain N, Gersh BJ, Gonzalez Carta K, Sydó N, Lopez-Jimenez F, Kopecky SL, Thomas RJ, Asirvatham SJ, Allison TG. (2018) Impact of cardiorespiratory fitness on frequency of atrial fibrillation, stroke, and all-cause mortality. Am J Cardiol, 121(1):41-49.
  IF: 3.398 (2016)
- Sydó N, Sydó T, Merkely B, Farooq F, Hussain N, Carta KG, Lopez-Jimenez F, Arruda-Olson A, Allison TG. (2017) Exercise test predicts both CV and non-CV

mortality in patients without CV disease. J Am Coll Cardiol, 69(11):1614.

- 10. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Merkely B, Murphy JG, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2017) Exercise test predicts non-cardiovascular death in a low risk population. Circulation, 136:A18512.
- 11. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Csécs I, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Randal TJ, Allison TG. (2017) Exercise test predicts mortality in patients with coronary artery disease on beta blockers. Circulation, 136:A20043
- 12. Csécs I, Czimbalmos Cs, Sydó N, Suhai FI, Dohy Zs, Kiss O, Tóth A, Merkely B, Hajnalka V. (2017) Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy or athlete's heart?-special derived cardiac magnetic resonance parameters help the differential diagnosis. Circulation, 136:A20095
- 13. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2017) Prognostic impact of heart rate recovery in chronic heart disease. Eur Heart J 38:Suppl1:1334
- 14. Carta KG, Allison TG, Arruda-Olson A, Hussain N, Sydó N. (2017) Protective effects of cardiorespiratory fitness on cardiovascular, all-cause and noncardiovascular mortality. Eur Heart J 38:Suppl1:654
- 15. Vágó H, Csécs I, Czimbalmos Cs, Tóth A, Kiss O, Komka Zs, Bárczi Gy, Kováts T, Suhai FI, Sydó N, Simor T, Gellér L, Becker D, Merkely B. (2017) Athlete's heart or

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2177

structural heart disease? - First hungarian structural heart disease and aborted sudden cardiac death magnetic resonance registry in athletes. Eur Heart J 38:Suppl1:4444

- 16. Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Horváth B, Dohy Zs, Szabó L, Kiss O, Sydó N, Simor T, Merkely B, Vágó H. (2017) Overlapping features-Differentiation of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy and athlete's heart using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Eur Heart J 38:Suppl1:1532
- 17. Merkely P, Nádasy Gy, Bakos M, Török M, Sydó N, Radovits T, Merkely B, Ács N, Várbíró Sz. (2017) Gender differences in cardiovascular exercise adaptation in a rat model. Eur Heart J 38:Suppl1:1537
- 18. Csécs I, Czimbalmos Cs, Tóth A, Kiss O, Komka Zs, Bárczi Gy, Kováts T, Suhai FI, Sydó N, Simor T, Gellér L, Becker D, Merkely B, Vágó H. (2017) Sportszív vagy strukturális szívizombetegség? Szív mágneses rezonancia vizsgálat diagnosztikus szerepe sportolóknál strukturális szívbetegség gyanuja esetén. Cardiol Hung, 47:(1) pp. 10-17.
- **19.** Kiss O, **Sydó N**. Terheléses vizsgálatok. In: Tulassay Zsolt (szerk.) A belgyógyászat alapjai . Budapest: Medicina Könyvkiadó, 2016. pp. 538-540.
- 20. Sydó N, Sydó T, Merkely B, Hussain N, Farooq S, Carta KG, Lopez-Jimenez F, Murphy JG, Allison TG. (2016) Significance of an increase in diastolic BP during a stress test in terms of comorbidities and long-term total and CV mortality. Circulation, 134:A19901.
- 21. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2016) Comparing comorbidities and mortality in never, past, and current smokers. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gheart.2016.03.033
- 22. Sydó T, Sydó N, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2016) Quantifying the burden of diabetes and benefits of better fitness in patients with CAD. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gheart.2016.03.430

- 23. Fitzmaurice DA, Accetta G, Haas S, Kayani G, Lucas Luciardi H, Misselwitz F, Pieper K, Ten Cate H, Turpie AG, Kakkar AK; GARFIELD-AF Investigators. (2016) Comparison of international normalized ratio audit parameters in patients enrolled in GARFIELD-AF and treated with vitamin K antagonists.Br J Haematol, doi: 10.1111/bjh.14084.
- 24. Kiss O, Sydó N, Kovács A, Pavlik A, Vágó H, Hadnagy V, Kováts T, Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Bíró A, Merkely B. (2016) A női vízilabda válogatott sportkardiológiai és terhelésélettani követése. Hungarian Review of Sport Science, 2016;06.
- **25. Sydó** N, Kiss O, Molnár L, Kováts T, Kovács A, Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Mairovich-Horvát P, Vágó H, Merkely B. (2016) Élsport myocardialis infarktus után szoros kardiológiai és terhelés élettani kontroll mellett. Cardiol Hung, 46:F98.
- 26. Kiss O, Sydó N, Horváth D, Vágó H, Kovács A, Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Sydó T, Merkely B. Intenzív sport 35 fölött? (2016) A kardiológiai szűrés kiemelt szerepe master sportolóknál. Cardiol Hung. 46:F97
- 27. Vago H, Czimbalmos Cs, Csecs I, Toth A, Suhai FI, Kiss O, Sydó N, Becker D, Merkely B. The role of cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging int he differentiation of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC) and athlete's heart. ECR 2016 (Vienna, Austria)
- 28. Czimbalmos Cs, Vago H, Toth A, Suhai FI, Csecs I, Sydó N, Kiss O, Gellér L, Merkely B. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy in professional athletes. EuroCMR 2016 (Florence, Italy)
- 29. Sydó N, Sydó T, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2016) CV fitness reduces the risk of weight-associated comorbidities and all-cause mortality in past smokers. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67(13\_S):1858-1858.
- 30. Sydó N, Sydó T, Abdelmoneim SS, Mulvagh SL, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Miller TD, Allison TG. (2015) Significance of impaired heart rate response to exercise in obesity. J Am Coll Cardiol, 65(10\_S).

- 31. Sydó N, Sydó T, Merkely B, Carta KG, Murphy JG, Lopez-Jimenez F, Allison TG. (2016) Impaired heart rate response to exercise in diabetes and its long-term significance. Mayo Clin Proc, S0025-6196(15)00892-7.
  IF: 6.686
- **32.** Czimbalmos Cs, Vago H, Csecs I, Toth A, Suhai FI, Kiss O, **Sydó N**, Becker D, Simor T, Merkely B. (2015) Male and female athlete's left ventricular magnetic resonance parameters determined by trabecula quantification in different sport activities. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging, Supplement 16 (Supplement 2), ii172.
- 33. Sydó N, Kiss O, Vargha P, Vágó H, Czimbalmos Cs, Csécs I, Sydó T, Merkely B. (2015) Szívfrekvencia variabilitás analízis sportolókban. Hungarian Review of Sport Sciece, 4:64; 53.
- 34. Sydó N, Sydó T, Gonzalez Carta KA, Murphy JG, Merkely B, Allison TG. (2015) Tuning the heart rate recovery for age. Circulation, 132: A12508.
- **35.** Murphy JG, **Sydó** N, Nkomo VT, Kane GC, Sarano ME, Merkely B, Allison TG. (2015) What is the prognostic significance of tricuspid regurgitation in aortic stenosis? Eur Heart J, 36 (suppl 1): 163-508.
- 36. Czimbalmos Cs, Vágó H, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Csécs I, Kiss O, Sydó N, Simor T, Becker D, Merkely B. (2015) Differentiation of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy and athlete's heart using cardiac magnetic resonanace imaging. Eur Heart J, 36 (suppl 1): 1-161.
- 37. Vágó H, Tóth A, Czimbalmos Cs, Kecskés K, Csécs I, Suhai FI, Kiss O, Sydó N, Becker D, Merkely B. (2015) Differentiation of physiological sport adaptation from pathological left ventricular hypertrophy with the help of trabeculae quantification using cardiac magnetic resonanace imaging. Eur Heart J, 36 (suppl 1): 1-161.
- **38.** Sydó N, Merkely B, Murphy JG, Allison TG. (2014) Significance of impaired hr response to exercise in diabetes. Eur Heart J, 35 (suppl 1): 513-850.

- **39.** Murphy JG, **Sydó N**, Allison TG. (2014) Chronotropic incompetence detected on screening exercise treadmill testing is a strong predictor of long-term mortality even when present in individuals on a beta blocker or calcium channel antagonist. Eur Heart J, 35 (suppl 1): 851-1187.
- 40. Kiss O, Sydó N, Horváth D, Merkely P, Vágó H, Czimbalmos Cs, Sydó T, Merkely B. (2015) Sportadaptáció vagy patológiás eltérések? A sportolói EKG elemzése az új kritériumrendszerek tükrében. Cardiol Hung, 45:D114.
- 41. Czimbalmos Cs, Vágó H, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Kiss O, Sydó N, Becker D, Merkely B. (2015) Arrhythmogén jobb kamrai cardiomyopathia és sportszív elkülönítése szív mágneses rezonanciás vizsgálat segítségével. Cardiol Hung, 45:D7.
- 42. Csécs I, Czimbalmos Cs, Tóth A, Suhai FI, Szűcs A, Sydó N, Pozsonyi Z, Vágó H, Merkely B. (2015) Szív mágneses rezonanciás vizsgálat szerepe a bal kamrai falvastagság növekedéssel járó cardiomyopathiák diagnosztikájában. Cardiol Hung, 45:D83.
- **43.** Sydó N, Kiss O, Molnár L, Király Á, Bartykowszki A, Vágó H, Szelid Zs, Bárczi Gy, Merkely B. (2014) Differential diagnosis of chest pain with ST-elevation in a young elite athlete. Cardiol Hung, 44: E6.
- 44. Kiss O, Sydó N, Vágó H, Tóth A, Apor A, Kovács A, Kováts T, Merkely B. (2014) Repolarisation ECG changes in athletes: physiological adaptation or predictors of suddenc cardiac death? Hungarian Review of Sport Science, 1:55; 12.
- **45.** Kiss O, **Sydó N**, Merkely B. (2014) Physiological and pathological bradyarrhythmias and conduction disorders in athletes. Cardiol Hung, 44: E8.
- **46.** Sydó N, Abdelmoneim SS, Allison TG. (2014) The Relationship Between Exercise HR and Age in Men versus Women. J Am Coll Cardiol, 63(12\_S).

- 47. Sydó N, Kiss O, Apor A, Vágó H, Tóth A, Nagy A, Édes E, Vargha P, Merkely B. (2013) Analysis of physiological and pathological ECG changes in athletes. Cardiol Hung, 43: B117.
- 48. Kiss O, Sydó N, Apor A, Vágó H, Tóth A, Kováts T, Édes E, Vargha P, Merkely B. (2013) Athlete's heart and repolarization changes: physiological or pathological adaptation? Cardiol Hung, 43: B117.
- **49.** Sydó T, Györe I, **Sydó** N. (2013) Cardiopulmonary exercise testing in junior and senior female handball players. Hungarian Review of Sport Science, 2:54; 52.
- **50.** Kiss O, **Sydó** N, Merkely B. (2012) Favorable effects of omega-3 supplementation in athletes. Cardiol Hung, 42: 15-20.
- **51.** Kiss O, **Sydó** N, Édes E, Vargha P, Merkely B. (2012) Heart rate variability and turbulence analysis in athletes: subgroup analysis by sport intensity and different sports. Cardiol Hung, 42: A131.
- 52. Sydó T, Györe I, Sydó N. (2012) Metabolic and ion concentration changes during exercise testing in junior female handball players. Hungarian Review of Sport Science, 2: 63.
- 53. Sydó T, Györe I, Sydó N, Pucsok J. (2012) Comparing minerals and Q10 concentrations of senior and junior female handball players Hungarian Review of Sports Medicine, 2.
- 54. Kiss O, Sydó N, Édes E, Vargha P, Merkely B. (2011) Sports cardiology screening: Holter analysis. Cardiol Hung, 41: F1.
- **55.** Kiss O, **Sydó** N, Édes E, Vargha P, Merkely B. (2010) ECG in pre-participation screening of athletes. Cardiol Hung. 40: O8.
## Acknowledgement

I would like to extend thanks to the many people, in many countries, who so generously contributed to the work presented in this thesis.

Special mention and gratitude goes to my enthusiastic supervisor,

**Prof. Dr. Béla Merkely**, who has been supporting me from the very beginning, ever since my 3rd year as a medical student. My PhD has been an amazing experience and I thank Professor Merkely wholeheartedly, not only for his tremendous academic support, but also for giving me so many wonderful opportunities. We have carried out several research projects together and presented our work at prestigeous Hungarian and International Conferences around the world. He has trained me not only in research but also handed over clinical knowledge. Inspiring me with his valuable ideas and giving me advice, he has driven me both on the road of research and in real life, proving an unmatched professional mentor and becoming one of my best friends ever.

Similarly, most humble, wholehearted and profound gratitude goes to

**Prof. Thomas G. Allison** from Mayo Clinic in Rochester, who has been my truly dedicated mentor. I am particularly indebted to him for his constant faith in my research work, and for his valuable support when so generously hosting me in Rochester and accompanying me to renowned conferences in the U.S. and overseas. The work with Professor Allison at Mayo Clinic has revolutionarily changed my medical and academic thinking, and has influenced deeply my entire stance and attitude towards the medical profession. The time spent at Mayo, at one of the world's best clinics, and together with the most highly trained professional medical staff, has offered me the opportunity to profess my skills and assist the patients in a way I have never experienced before. I have very fond memories of my work and research time at Mayo Clinic, where the assistance of the American colleagues proved most beneficial. I am crediting Professor Allison for having welcomed me into his family, having treated me with thoughtfulness and having made Rochester my second home.

I am also hugely appreciative to **Dr. Dávid Becker**, for supervising my thesis and for sharing his academic expertise so willingly, and for being so dedicated to his role as my secondary supervisor.

Special mention goes to my students **Julia Érdi, Dávid Major, Csaba Bognár and Máté Babity** for their assistance in my research, their enthusiasm and dedications, as well as the most enjoying and motivating team spirit and atmosphere.

I am also very grateful to **Dr. Violetta Kékesi** for the helpful guidance, encouragement and patience during my learning curve and for her help in organizing and proceeding my PhD studies.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to **Dr. Orsolya Kiss**, Head of Sports Cardiology Research Group at Semmelweis University Heart and Vascular Center for having given me the possibility to carry out my research.

I gratefully acknowledge the ardent support and assistance received from my colleagues in the Sports Cardiology Research Group at Semmelweis University Heart and Vascular Center, especially to

Dr. Csilla Czimbalmos, Dr. Ibolya Csécs, Dr. Bálint Lakatos, Dr. Attila Kovács, Dr. Hajnalka Vágó, Dr. Attila Tóth, Dr. Ferenc Suhai, Dr. György Bárczi, Dr. Zsolt Szelid, Dr. Tímea Kováts,

and from all the medical assistants and nurses, especially from

Beáta Tóthné Szépréti, Csilla Holesné Juhász, Anikó Nagy, Ildikó Hrna, Melinda Sarusi, Edit Nagy, Aranka Rónaszékiné Szabó, Anikó Pataki, Magdolna Dzodzogluné, Margaréta Németh, Dorottya Ajvazov, Gyöngyi Treszkai, Erzsébet Bokrosné Magyar, who all have helped me to carry out my research.

Lastly but not least, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement. To my parents, who raised me with a love of science and supported me in all my pursuits, and especially to my father, **Dr. Tibor Sydó**, cardiologist and sports cardiologist, who has always been supportive, encouraging and helpful whenever I have needed it and who served as a role model in my life.